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ORDRES DE RENVOI
Extrait des Journaux du Sénat du jeudi 26 octobre 2006 :

ORDERS OF REFERENCE

Extract from the Journals of the Senate, Thursday, October 26,
2006:

Resuming debate on the motion of the Honourable
Senator Di Nino, seconded by the Honourable Senator
Cochrane, for the second reading of Bill S-1001, An Act
respecting Scouts Canada.

After debate,
The question being put on the motion, it was adopted.
The bill was then read the second time.

The Honourable Senator Comeau moved, seconded by
the Honourable Senator Banks, that the bill be referred to
the Standing Senate Committee on Legal and Constitutional
Affairs.

The question being put on the motion, it was adopted.

Extract from the Journals of the Senate, Tuesday,
September 26, 2006:

Resuming debate on the motion of the Honourable
Senator Bryden, seconded by the Honourable Senator
Baker, P.C., for the second reading of Bill S-213, An Act
to amend the Criminal Code (cruelty to animals).

After debate,
The question being put on the motion, it was adopted.
The bill was then read the second time.

The Honourable Senator Bryden moved, seconded by the
Honourable Senator Corbin, that the bill be referred to the
Standing Senate Committee on Legal and Constitutional
Affairs.

The question being put on the motion, it was adopted.

Reprise du débat sur la motion de ’honorable sénateur
Di Nino, appuyée par I’honorable sénateur Cochrane,
tendant a la deuxiéme lecture du projet de loi S-1001, Loi
concernant Scouts Canada.

Apres débat,

La motion, mise aux voix, est adoptée.

Le projet de loi est alors lu la deuxiéme fois.

L’honorable sénateur Comeau propose, appuyé par
I’honorable sénateur Banks, que le projet de loi soit
renvoyé au Comité sénatorial permanent des affaires
juridiques et constitutionnelles.

La motion, mise aux voix, est adoptée.

Extrait des Journaux du Sénat du mardi 26 septembre 2006 :

Reprise du débat sur la motion de I’honorable sénateur
Bryden, appuyée par I’honorable sénateur Baker, C.P.,
tendant a la deuxiéme lecture du projet de loi S-213, Loi
modifiant le Code criminel (cruauté envers les animaux).

Apres débat,

La motion, mise aux voix, est adoptée.

Le projet de loi est alors lu la deuxiéme fois.

L’honorable sénateur Bryden propose, appuyé par
I’honorable sénateur Corbin, que le projet de loi soit
renvoyé au Comité sénatorial permanent des affaires
juridiques et constitutionnelles.

La motion, mise aux voix, est adoptée.

Le greffier du Sénat,
Paul C. Bélisle
Clerk of the Senate
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MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS
OTTAWA, Wednesday, November 8, 2006
(39)

[English)

The Standing Senate Committee on Legal and Constitutional
Affairs met this day at 4:06 p.m., in room 257, East Block, the
Chair, the Honourable Donald H. Oliver, presiding.

Members of the committee present: The Honourable Senators
Andreychuk, Bryden, Joyal, P.C., Milne, Oliver, Ringuette and
Rivest (7).

In attendance: Margaret Young, Analyst, Library of Parliament.

Also in attendance: The official reporters of the Senate.

Pursuant to the Order of Reference adopted by the Senate
on Thursday, October 26, 2006, the committee began its
consideration of Bill S-1001, respecting Scouts Canada.

WITNESSES:

The Honourable Senator Consiglio Di Nino, sponsor of
the bill.

Scouts Canada:

Rob Stewart, Executive Commissioner and Chief Executive
Officer.

The Chair made an opening statement.

Senator Di Nino made a statement and, with Mr. Stewart,
answered questions.

At 4:54 p.m., the committee suspended.

At 4:55 p.m., the committee proceeded in camera pursuant to
rule 92(2)(e) for consideration of a draft agenda.

At 5:16 p.m., the committee adjourned to the call of
the Chair.

ATTEST:

OTTAWA, Thursday, November 9, 2006
(40)
[English]

The Standing Senate Committee on Legal and Constitutional
Affairs met this day at 10:50 a.m., in room 257, East Block, the
Chair, the Honourable Donald H. Oliver, presiding.

Members of the committee present: The Honourable Senators
Andreychuk, Bryden, Joyal, P.C., Milne, Nolin, Oliver, Stratton,
and Zimmer (8).

Other senator present: The Honourable Senator Watt (1).

In attendance: Robin MacKay, Analyst, Library of Parliament.

PROCES-VERBAUX

OTTAWA, le mercredi 8 novembre 2006
(39)

[Traduction]

Le Comité sénatorial permanent des affaires juridiques et
constitutionnelles se réunit aujourd’hui, a 16 h 6, dans la
salle 257 de 1’édifice de I’Est, sous la présidence de ’honorable
Donald H. Oliver (président).

Membres du comité présents : Les honorables sénateurs
Andreychuk, Bryden, Joyal, C.P., Milne, Oliver, Ringuette et
Rivest (7).

Egalement présente : Margaret Young, analyste, Bibliothéque
du Parlement.

Aussi présents : Les sténographes officiels du Sénat.

Conformément a l'ordre de renvoi adopté par le Sénat le
jeudi 26 octobre 2006, le comité entreprend son étude du projet
de loi S-1001, Loi concernant Scouts Canada.

TEMOINS :

L’honorable sénateur Consiglio Di Nino, parrain du projet
de loi.

Scouts Canada :

Rob Stewart, commissaire général et directeur général.

Le président fait une déclaration.

Le sénateur Di Nino fait une déclaration puis, aidé de
M. Stewart, répond aux questions.

A 16 h 54, la séance est interrompue.

A 16 h 55, le comité reprend ses travaux a huis clos,
conformément a l'alinéa 92(2)e) du Réglement, pour examiner
un projet d’ordre du jour.

A 17 h 16, le comité suspend ses travaux jusqu’a nouvelle
convocation de la présidence.

ATTESTE :

OTTAWA, le jeudi 9 novembre 2006
(40)

[Traduction]

Le Comité sénatorial permanent des affaires juridiques et
constitutionnelles se réunit aujourd’hui, a 10 h 50, dans la
salle 257 de I’édifice de I’Est, sous la présidence de I’honorable
Donald H. Oliver (président).

Membres du comité présents : Les honorables sénateurs
Andreychuk, Bryden, Joyal, C.P., Milne, Nolin, Oliver, Stratton
et Zimmer (8).

Autre sénateur présent : L’honorable sénateur Watt (1).

Egalement présent : Robin MacKay, analyste, Bibliothéque du
Parlement.
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Also in attendance: The official reporters of the Senate.

Pursuant to the Order of Reference adopted by the Senate on
Tuesday, September 26, 2006, the committee began its
consideration of Bill S-213, to amend the Criminal Code
(cruelty to animals).

WITNESSES:

The Honourable Senator John G. Bryden, sponsor of the bill.
Department of Justice Canada:

Donald Piragoff, Senior Assistant Deputy Minister;

Joanne Klineberg, Counsel, Criminal Law Policy.

The Chair made an opening statement.

Senator Bryden made a statement and answered questions.

At 11:50 a.m., the committee suspended.
At 11:52 a.m., the committee resumed.

Mr. Piragoff made a statement and, with Ms. Klineberg,
answered questions.

At 12:30 p.m., the committee adjourned to the call of
the Chair.

ATTEST:

Aussi présents : Les sténographes officiels du Sénat.

Conformément a I’ordre de renvoi adopté par le Sénat le mardi
26 septembre 2006, le comité entreprend son étude du projet de
loi S-213, Loi modifiant le Code criminel (cruauté envers les
animaux).

TEMOINS :

L’honorable sénateur John G. Bryden, parrain du projet de loi.
Ministére de la Justice Canada :

Donald Piragoff, sous-ministre adjoint principal;

Joanne Klineberg, avocate, Section de la politique en matiére
de droit pénal.

Le président fait une déclaration.

Le sénateur Bryden fait une déclaration puis répond aux
questions.

A 11 h 50, la séance est interrompue.
A 11 h 52, la séance reprend.

M. Piragoff fait une déclaration puis, aidé de Mme Klineberg,
répond aux questions.

A 12 h 30, le comité suspend ses travaux jusqu’a nouvelle
convocation de la présidence.

ATTESTE :

Le greffier du comité,

Gérald Lafreniére

Clerk of the Committee
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EVIDENCE
OTTAWA, Wednesday, November 8, 2005

The Standing Senate Committee on Legal and Constitutional
Affairs, to which was referred Bill S-1001, respecting Scouts
Canada, met this day at 4:06 p.m. to give consideration to
the bill.

Senator Donald H. Oliver (Chairman) in the chair.

[English]

The Chairman: Honourable senators, this is our first meeting
on Bill S-1001, respecting Scouts Canada.

The summary of the bill indicates that it consolidates and
updates the statutes governing the corporation known as the Boy
Scouts of Canada to reflect more accurately its current status in
Canada. It also changes the name of the corporation to “Scouts
Canada” and makes other technical and incidental changes
relating to the administration of its affairs.

To begin our work on this bill, I am pleased to welcome our
colleague, the Honourable Senator Consiglio Di Nino, the
sponsor of the bill.

Welcome to the committee. I note that with you is Rob
Stewart, the Executive Commissioner and Chief Executive Officer
of Scouts Canada.

Welcome to you as well, Mr. Stewart.

Hon. Consiglio Di Nino, sponsor of the bill: Thank you for
allowing the CEO of Scouts to appear before you. There may be
some questions that he can answer better than I can.

This bill is before the Senate for the third time. It is principally
a bill to change the name of the Boy Scouts of Canada to reflect
the fact that Scouting has been coed for a number of years. That
started in 1974 with changes to one of its programs. Six or seven
years ago it became officially coed throughout all the programs
offered by Scouting.

You heard me talk about this issue for the third time on
June 27, when I introduced this bill. The bill addresses the issue of
the appropriate reflection of the status of Scouting as it is today,
which serves both boys and girls and young men and young
women in this country.

Correspondence has been received from some individuals who
suggest that this bill changes some of the bylaws of the
corporation. The original bill was introduced before the changes
to the bylaws that some members of the Scouting movement are
questioning, took place. Bill S-1001, in its original form, which is
basically the same as this bill, was introduced by me previous to
the annual general meeting at which changes to bylaws were
made. The changes are now being questioned by some members
of the organization.

TEMOIGNAGES
OTTAWA, le mercredi 8 novembre 2005

Le Comité sénatorial permanent des affaires juridiques et
constitutionnelles, a qui a été déféré le projet de loi S-1001, Loi
concernant Scouts Canada, se réunit aujourd’hui a 16 h 6 pour
examiner le projet de loi.

Le sénateur Donald H. Oliver (président) occupe le fauteuil.

[Traduction]

Le président : Honorables sénateurs, ceci est notre premicre
réunion au sujet du projet de loi S-1001, Loi concernant Scouts
Canada.

D’aprés le sommaire du projet de loi, le texte regroupe de met a
jour les diverses lois régissant 1’association dénommée les Boy
Scouts du Canada afin de mieux correspondre a sa situation
actuelle au Canada. Il remplace le nom de l’association par
« Scouts Canada » et apporte d’autres changements techniques
ou accessoires touchant ’administration de ses affaires.

Pour amorcer notre examen de ce projet de loi, j’ai le plaisir
d’accueillir notre collégue, I’honorable sénateur Consiglio
Di Nino, le parrain du projet de loi.

Bienvenue au comité. Je remarque que vous étes accompagné
de Rob Stewart, commissaire exécutif et directeur général de
Scouts Canada.

Je vous souhaite la bienvenue a vous aussi,

L’honorable Consiglio Di Nino, parrain du projet de loi : Je vous
remercie de bien vouloir accueillir devant vous le directeur général
de Scouts Canada. Peut-étre pourra-t-il mieux que moi répondre a
certaines questions.

Ce projet de loi est présenté pour la troisiéme fois au Sénat.
C’est principalement un projet de loi pour modifier le nom Les
Boy Scouts du Canada, pour refléter le fait que ’organisation est
mixte depuis plusieurs années. Cela date de 1974, quand des
modifications ont été apportées a I'un des programmes de
I’association. Il y a six ou sept ans, I'organisation est devenue
officiellement mixte dans tous les programmes qu’elle offre.

Vous m’avez entendu parler de ce sujet pour la troisiéme fois le
27 juin, quand j’ai présenté le projet de loi. Il vise a projeter une
image appropriée du scoutisme de nos jours, auquel participent
tant les garcons que les filles, les jeunes hommes et les jeunes
femmes du pays.

Des gens ont écrit pour suggérer que le projet de loi modifie des
réglements administratifs de 'organisme. Le premier projet de loi
a été présenté avant que les modifications aux réglements que
contestent certains membres du mouvement scout soient entrées
en vigueur. J’ai présenté le projet de loi S-1001 sous sa forme
originale, qui est assez proche de ce projet loi-ci, avant la réunion
générale annuelle lors de laquelle les réglements ont été modifiés.
Certains membres de I'organisation contestent maintenant ces
modifications.
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I think I need say no more. I am here to respond to questions.
I am happy to go through the background of the bill, but the last
time I brought a bill before this committee the chair told me that
if I spoke too long there would be no time for questions from
colleagues.

Mr. Chairman, I would be happy to engage my colleagues in
dialogue on this bill.

The Chairman: Thank you, Senator Di Nino.
Clause 1 of this bill reads:

The Corporation created by chapter 130 of the Statutes of
Canada, 1914, is continued under the name “Scouts
Canada”.

Could you tell us why that change is taking place?

Could you also tell us a little more about the concerns you have
heard about this bill? Have people written to you? Have you
received calls? If so, what are the main complaints or concerns
expressed? We have all received packages of materials, but I want
to hear from you.

Senator Di Nino: The preamble of the bill goes through the
history of the legislation dealing with this issue. In 1914, the
corporation was incorporated by an act of Parliament as the
Canadian General Council of Boy Scouts Association, as a
branch of The Boy Scouts Association, which itself was
incorporated in Great Britain in 1912 by Royal Charter granted
during the reign of King George V. The preamble goes on to
describe other changes that have taken place.

This bill intends to create a change in the statutes of the
1914 incorporation to change that name to Scouts Canada. That
change is what clause 1 of the bill refers to.

As to the concerns expressed by individuals who have written
to us — and I think there are three in particular — they deal with
the difference of opinion on how the organization should be run
and organized.

I have been informed that when this change took place in 2003,
there were three main opponents to the changes in the bylaws.
Two of the three main opponents are now on the national board
of this organization, including its chair, Glenn Armstrong. Ted
Claxton has sent us some correspondence, as has Keith Martin —
not the member of Parliament from British Columbia.

If I understand Mr. Claxton correctly — and Mr. Stewart will
make some comments on this — he is not in agreement with the
contents of the changed bylaws. That is his opinion, which he has
every right to hold and to express.

Having said that, it is my understanding that the vast majority
of the membership of scouts was in favour of the changes. It bears
restating that two of the most critical opponents at the time are
now on the national board of Scouting, including its chairman.

Je pense que n’ai pas a en dire plus. Je suis ici pour répondre
aux questions. Je serais heureux de situer le projet en contexte,
mais la derniére fois que j’ai présenté un projet de loi devant le
comité, le président m’a dit que si je parlais trop longtemps, il ne
resterait pas assez de temps pour les questions des collégues.

Monsieur le président, j’invite volontiers mes collégues au
dialogue sur ce projet de loi.

Le président : Merci, sénateur Di Nino.
L’article 1 du projet de loi stipule :

L’association a été constituée en personne morale par le
chapitre 130 des Statuts du Canada de 1914, sous la
dénomination « the Canadian General Council of Boy
Scouts Association ».

Pourriez-vous nous expliquer I'objet de ce changement?

Pourriez-vous aussi m’en dire un peu plus sur les
préoccupations que vous avez entendues exprimer au sujet de ce
projet de loi? Est-ce qu’on vous a écrit? Avez-vous regu des
appels? Le cas échéant, quelles sont les principales plaintes ou
préoccupations exprimées? Nous avons tous regu des trousses
d’information, mais j’aimerais que vous nous en parliez.

Le sénateur Di Nino : Le préambule du projet de loi
fait I’historique des lois portant sur cette question.
En 1994, I’association a été constituée en personne morale par
une loi du Parlement sous la dénomination « the Canadian
General Council of Boy Scouts Association », qui elle-méme
avait été constituée en personne morale en Grande-Bretagne par
charte royale accordée en 1912, pendant le régne de George V. Le
préambule poursuit avec la description d’autres changements qui
sont survenus.

Ce projet de loi vise a modifier les statuts de la constitution en
personne morale survenue en 1914, pour changer la dénomination
pour Scouts Canada. Ce changement fait I'objet du premier
article du projet de loi.

Pour ce qui est des préoccupations exprimées par ceux qui nous
ont écrit — et je pense qu’il y en a trois en particulier — elles
expriment une différence d’opinion sur la maniére dont
I’organisation devrait étre dirigée et organisée.

J’ai appris que lorsque ce changement est survenu en 2003, il y
avait trois principaux opposants a la modification aux réglements
administratifs. Deux de ces trois personnes sieégent maintenant au
conseil d’administration national de l'organisation, dont son
président, Glenn Armstrong. Ted Claxton nous a écrit, de méme
que Keith Martin — pas le député de la Colombie-Britannique.

Si je comprends bien M. Claxton — et M. Stewart en parlera
aussi — il n’est pas d’accord avec le contenu du réglement
modifié. C’est son avis, et il est tout a fait en droit de ’avoir et de
I’exprimer.

Cela étant dit, d’aprés ce que j’ai compris, la grande majorité
de leffectif des Scouts était favorable aux changements. Il
convient de répéter que deux des opposants les plus virulents a
I’époque siegent maintenant au conseil national de I'organisation,
dont son président.
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Rob Stewart, Executive Commissioner and Chief Executive
Officer, Scouts Canada: That is correct. This process began before
my time as CEO. The principal purpose for the change was to
reflect the fact that we are a coed movement in Canada. The
opposition is to our By-Law No. 2, to the way we have structured
the organization and the way the governance model works. The
challenges relate to democracy and the desire to give more people
a say in the future of the organization.

In fact, since the change of the bylaw, there are now more
voting delegates to our annual meetings. Prior to the change in
our structure related to the bylaw, we had three representatives
for each of the provinces and territories. We have now
restructured and we have 20 councils, each of which has three
votes. You can see that the number of votes has increased.
Embedded in that change is that one of the three delegates must
be a youth representative of our organization. We have a
mandatory vote from our youth and have mandated that there
be four young people on our board. We have tried to strengthen
that representation.

Our board and organization continues to ensure that we use
appropriate processes to select the voting delegates to our annual
meeting.

Senator Ringuette: As a former Girl Guide who sold many
bushels of apples in New Brunswick, I cannot help but feel sad
that the words “Girl Guides,” which reflect your coed structure,
are not used in this bill.

Senator Di Nino: Senator Ringuette and I have become good
friends. Now I understand why — Girl Guide and Boy Scout.
That is good stuff.

I have been involved in the Scouting movement for a long time
and I would like to clear up one matter quickly.

One letter that was received, from Mr. Claxton, I believe,
stated that I was on the board when these changes were made. |
have not been on the board for a long time. I was when I was
president of the Greater Toronto Region, which was before some
of our Senate colleagues were born.

However, I remember taking part in the debates about whether
Scouting should be coed. There were extensive discussions and
consultations long before it happened in other than the senior
segment. In the GTR we consulted extensively with the Girl
Guides, and they never expressed concerns or opposition. They
understand that some girls prefer to be part of a coed
organization. We are really brother and sister organizations that
work closely together.

The Girl Guides and Boy Scouts had extensive dialogue on this
issue before the final recognition of Scouts as coed.

Rob Stewart, commissaire général et directeur général, Scouts
Canada : C’est vrai. Le processus a été entamé avant mon entrée
en fonction en tant que directeur général. L’objet principal du
changement était de refléter le fait que nous sommes maintenant
un organisme mixte au Canada. Le désaccord exprimé est au sujet
de notre deuxiéme réglement, de la maniére dont nous avons
structuré l’organisation et du fonctionnement du modéle de
gouvernance. Il est li¢ a la démocratie et au désir de donner voix
au chapitre, a I’avenir, a plus de membres de 1’organisation.

De fait, depuis la modification du reglement, un plus
grand nombre de délégués votants assistent maintenant a nos
réunions annuelles. Avant la modification de notre structure,
conformément au réglement, nous avions trois représentants pour
chaque province et territoire. Depuis la restructuration nous
avons maintenant 20 conseils, dont chacun a trois voix. Vous
pouvez constater que le nombre de voix a augmenté. Dans le
cadre de ce changement, I'un des trois délégués doit étre un
représentant des jeunes de notre organisation. Nous avons un
vote obligatoire de nos jeunes, et nous avons créé quatre postes
pour des jeunes a notre conseil d’administration. Nous avons
essayé de renforcer cette représentation.

Notre conseil d’administration et notre organisation
continuent de veiller & ce que nous appliquions les processus
appropriés de sélection des délégués votants a notre réunion
annuelle.

Le sénateur Ringuette : En ma qualité d’ancienne guide
qui a vendu de nombreux boisseaux de pommes au
Nouveau-Brunswick, je ne peux m’empécher d’étre attristée
qu’il ne soit pas fait mention des Guides dans le projet de loi,
pour refléter votre structure mixte,.

Le sénateur Di Nino : Le sénateur Ringuette et moi sommes
devenus bons amis. Maintenant je comprends pourquoi — elle
était guide et moi scout. C’est du bon monde.

Je m’intéresse au scoutisme depuis trés longtemps, et j’aimerais
rapidement tirer une chose au clair.

Nous avons regu une lettre de M. Claxton, je crois, ou il disait
que je siégeais au conseil d’administration quand ces changements
sont survenus. Je n’ai pas siégé au conseil tres longtemps. I’y étais
quand j’étais président de la région du Grand Toronto, et ¢’était
avant méme la naissance de certains de nos collégues sénateurs.

Cependant, je me rappelle avoir participé au débat sur le
concept des Scouts comme organisation mixte. De longues
discussions et consultations ont eu lieu bien avant que cela se
concrétise ailleurs que dans le segment des ainés. Dans la région
du Grand Toronto, nous avons amplement consulté les Guides, et
elles n’ont jamais exprimé d’inquiétude, ni d’opposition. Elles
comprennent que certaines filles préferent faire partie d’une
organisation mixte. Nous sommes vraiment des organisations
parentes qui travaillent en étroite collaboration.

Les Guides et les Scouts ont longuement dialogué sur le sujet
avant la reconnaissance définitive des Scouts comme une
organisation mixte.
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Mr. Stewart: To echo Senator Di Nino, we get along well with
the Girl Guides. We have ongoing dialogue and we are good
friends. We collaborate when we can.

The coed issue was a grassroots movement that started in rural
Manitoba where they had challenges finding enough leaders to
run programs for both boys and girls. The solution they found
was to include girls. As you can imagine, in such a cultural-bound
and historic organization, it caused some trepidation on both
sides. A number of experiments were done to ensure that the fit
was proper.

We do not raid the membership of the Girl Guides or actively
recruit from it. Our female registration is between 10 and
15 per cent, so, given market shares, I do not believe that we
have had an impact. As Senator Di Nino said, I do not know how
many members are former Girl Guides. I suspect that some
members come because their brothers have been with us.

The Girl Guides’ philosophy, which I respect, is that they want
girls to be in positions where they learn from female leadership.
We continue to have good relationships with the Girl Guides.

Senator Ringuette: I had the wrong impression of this bill. I
thought it merged Girl Guides and Scouts Canada.

Mr. Stewart: We are two separate organizations. We get
together regularly to cry on each other’s shoulders about the
challenges of our not-for-profit status. Girl Guides still sell
millions of dollars worth of cookies every year, so they are doing
well.

Senator Ringuette: In New Brunswick we were poor, so we had
to sell apples given to us by our apple producers.

Senator Milne: Senator Banks brought some concerns to the
attention of the Senate during his second reading speech on this
bill. I am not sure where this diagram came from, but it seems to
be a closed circle.

Following up on what Mr. Stewart said, it is now more
democratic and you have 20 organizations per province that can
each send three individuals to the annual general meeting?

Mr. Stewart: No, we have 20 councils across the country.
Many provinces, such as Manitoba and Saskatchewan, are
single-council provinces. Ontario has eight, British Columbia
has three and Alberta has two, based on population. We
have 20 councils across the country, each of which can send
three delegates.

Senator Milne: What other changes have been made recently in
the way you are governed, without having an act of Parliament to
make those changes?

Mr. Stewart: We changed our governance model to mirror
closely the Carver governance model. One concern we had under
our old method of governance and the old structure was who is

M. Stewart : Je confirme les propos du sénateur Di Nino.
Nous nous entendons bien avec les Guides. Nous entretenons un
dialogue continu, et nous sommes bons amis. Nous collaborons
quand nous le pouvons.

Le mouvement mixte est né dans la région rurale du Canada,
ou on avait de la difficulté a trouver suffisamment de chefs pour
diriger les programmes pour les garcons et les filles. La solution
trouvée a été d’englober les filles. Comme vous pouvez I'imaginer,
dans une organisation historique tellement attachée a la culture,
cela a causé des remous des deux cotés. Plusieurs expériences ont
été menées pour vérifier que la solution était la bonne.

Nous ne faisons pas de raids dans I’effectif des Guides, et ne
recrutons pas activement parmi elles. Notre effectif féminin est
d’environ 10 a 15 p. 100 de I'effectif total, donc, selon les parts du
marché, je ne crois pas que nous ayons beaucoup d’impact. Je ne
sais pas, comme le sénateur Di Nino, combien de membres étaient
auparavant des Guides. Je soupgonne que certaines sont venues a
nous parce que leurs fréres étaient avec nous.

La philosophie des Guides, que je respecte, est que les filles
doivent étre dans des positions ou elles apprennent auprés d'un
leadership féminin. Nous avons de bons rapports avec les Guides.

Le sénateur Ringuette : Je n’ai pas eu la bonne impression de ce
projet de loi. Je pensais que c’était pour fusionner les Guides et
Scouts Canada.

M. Stewart : Nous sommes deux organismes distincts. Nous
nous réunissons régulierement pour pleurer sur ’épaule 'un de
l’autre, sur les défis que pose notre situation d’organismes sans
but lucratif. Les Guides vendent encore pour des millions de
dollars de biscuits chaque année, alors tout va bien pour elles.

Le sénateur Ringuette : Au Nouveau-Brunswick, nous étions
pauvres, alors nous vendions des pommes que nous donnaient les
pomiculteurs.

Le sénateur Milne : Le sénateur Banks a porté certaines
préoccupations a ’attention du Sénat pendant sa deuxiéme lecture
de ce projet de loi. Je ne sais pas exactement d’ou vient ce
diagramme, mais cela semble étre un cercle fermé.

Pour revenir a ce que disait M. Stewart, I'organisme est donc
maintenant plus démocratique et il y a 20 organisations par
province qui peuvent chacune envoyer trois personnes a la
réunion annuelle générale?

M. Stewart : Non, nous avons 20 conseils dans tout le pays.
Bien des provinces, comme le Manitoba et la Saskatchewan, n’ont
qu'un seul conseil. L’Ontario en a huit, la Colombie-Britannique
trois et I’Alberta deux, en fonction de la population. Il y a
20 conseils dans tout le pays, dont chacun peut envoyer trois
délégués.

Le sénateur Milne : Quels autres changements ont été apportés
récemment dans la maniére dont vous étes régis, sans qu’il ait
fallu une loi du Parlement pour les instaurer?

M. Stewart : Nous avons modifié notre modéle de
gouvernance pour reproduire de prés celui de Carver. L'un de
nos soucis, avec I’ancienne méthode de gouvernance et ’ancienne
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accountable for what. We are ultimately a program-based
movement and wanted the commissioners to be accountable for
operating the councils.

Senator Di Nino: The commissioners are volunteers.

Mr. Stewart: Yes: [ am the only paid employee on the board of
governors. Everyone else is a volunteer. Prior to our most recent
structural change, we had any number of councils making any
number of bylaws and policies. You can imagine the hodgepodge
of policies and the liabilities that left us with.

We wanted to define accountability more clearly by having one
board, one policy-making body, and an administrative committee
that would enact those policies. The councils would then be
somewhat autonomous in terms of carrying out the policies and
programs of the organization.

That change was made for a couple of reasons. Some changes
were made to refine responsibilities. Others deal with the risk
management challenges we were encountering, particularly from
insurance companies that asked who was responsible for what, who
was liable for what and who makes the rules in the organization.
When we say that any number of people can make rules and
policies in the organization, that causes concern from a risk-
management perspective and that raised some challenges for us.

Our structure, which was changed, now reflects the 20 councils
that meet with the board five or six times a year. It reports to the
membership every year at an annual meeting at the end of
November.

Another change is that I, as chief executive officer and
executive commissioner, now have more responsibility to run
the day-to-day operations of the organization.

Senator Milne: When you say they report to the membership,
they do not report to the membership at large but rather to the
group at the annual general meeting?

Mr. Stewart: That is correct. We report to the voting delegates
who come to the annual meeting representing their councils.

Senator Milne: If you can make this change without an act of
Parliament, why do you not continue that way and ask us to
change only the name of the organization?

Senator Di Nino: I do not understand the question.

Senator Milne: This bill not only changes the name of the
organization — with which I have no problems whatsoever —
but also makes a lot of changes to how it is governed. It refers to
buying and selling mortgages, investing, dealing in land, property,
et cetera. It goes through a whole lot of things that the
organization wants to do, which I assume it is already doing.
Why do you need this legislation?

structure, c’était de savoir qui en était responsable. Nous sommes,
en fin de compte, un mouvement axé sur des programmes et nous
voulions que les commissaires assument la responsabilité du
fonctionnement des conseils.

Le sénateur Di Nino : Les commissaires sont des bénévoles.

M. Stewart : Oui. Je suis le seul employé rémunéré du conseil
des gouverneurs. Tous les autres sont des bénévoles. Avant la
restructuration la plus récente, nous avions toutes sortes de
conseils qui instauraient toutes sortes de réglements et de
politiques. Vous pouvez imaginer le fouillis de politiques et les
responsabilités que cela engendrait pour nous.

Nous voulions définir les responsabilités plus clairement en
ayant un conseil d’administration, un organe d’élaboration des
politiques, et un comité administratif qui concrétiserait ces
politiques en ceuvre. Les conseils seraient relativement
autonomes, dans I’exécution des politiques et des programmes
de I'organisation.

Le changement avait divers motifs. Certaines modifications ont
été apportées pour mieux définir les responsabilités. D’autres
visaient les défis de la gestion du risque que nous rencontrions,
particuliérement de la part de compagnies d’assurance qui
voulaient savoir qui était responsable de quoi, qui rendait
compte de quoi et qui définissait les réglements dans
I’organisation. Quand on dit qu'un tas de gens peuvent énoncer
des réglements et des politiques dans ’organisation, cela suscite
des inquiétudes, du point de vue de la gestion des risques, et cela
nous crée des difficultés.

Notre structure, qui a été modifiée, comporte maintenant les
20 conseils, qui rencontrent le conseil d’administration cinq ou six
fois par année. Elle rend compte de ses activités a I’effectif chaque
année, dans le cadre d’une réunion annuelle, a la fin de novembre.

Un autre changement c’est que moi, en tant que directeur
général et commissaire exécutif, j’ai plus de responsabilité dans la
direction des opérations courantes de ’organisation.

Le sénateur Milne : Quand vous dites qu’ils rendent compte de
leurs activités a I'effectif, ce n’est pas 'effectif dans son ensemble,
mais plutét au groupe de la réunion générale annuelle?

M. Stuart : C’est bien cela. Nous rendons compte de nos
activités aux délégués votants qui viennent a la réunion annuelle
représenter leurs conseils.

Le sénateur Milne : Si vous pouvez apporter ce changement
sans une loi du Parlement, pourquoi ne pas continuer ainsi
et ne nous demander que de changer la dénomination de
I’organisation?

Le sénateur Di Nino : Je ne comprends pas la question.

Le sénateur Milne : Ce projet de loi ne fait pas que modifier le
nom de l'organisation — ce qui ne me pose pas le moindre
probléme — mais apporte aussi beaucoup de changement dans la
maniére dont elle est régie. Il est question d’achat et de vente,
d’hypothéques, d’investissements, de transactions sur des terres,
de propriétés, et cetera. Il y est question de tout un tas de choses
que l'organisation veut faire, et je suppose qu’elle les fait déja.
Pourquoi avez-vous besoin de cette 1oi?



9-11-2006

Affaires juridiques et constitutionnelles

15:11

Mr. Stewart: Because [ was not here when this process started,
I am not sure, but I think those provisions are part the
housekeeping elements referred to in the bill. The principal
matter was the name change, but given that we do not regularly
go before Parliament to have an act changed, the intent was to
take care of the housekeeping matters so that we would have a
bylaw to govern the organization and the bylaw would have the
elements that are laid out in there. The bill more clearly defines
our responsibilities related to acquisition and disposal of
properties and such things. That was really the intent. When
there is reference to administrative cleanup, that is what the bill
refers to.

Senator Milne: I have some concerns. You are managing fine
without this legislation. You really only want the name change. I
question the need for that additional complex part of the bill.

You said there were three main objectors, one being
Mr. Armstrong, who is now chair of the board of governors.

Mr. Stewart: Yes.
Senator Milne: Where is he from?
Mr. Stewart: He is from Winnipeg.

Senator Milne: Would it be prudent to invite him and
Mr. Claxton to come before the committee so we can hear both
sides of the argument? Would they be at each other’s throats?
Could we invite them as a panel?

Mr. Stewart: They are Scouters; they will be respectful.

Senator Di Nino: We should remind everyone that
Mr. Claxton and the people who have raised questions are still
members of the Scouting movement. Within any organization
there are people who disagree. This is healthy, democratic and
certainly not unwelcome. Therefore, I believe it is appropriate to
hear from them.

As to administrative changes, the bill states that the head office
of the corporation is in Ottawa. That has been the case, although
it was never stated in the bylaws. It states that annual general
meetings must be held. That is already happening.

When I asked the lawyer about this, he said that the bill is
simply to legalize what has been happening. There are few, if any,
substantive changes other than what has already been taking
place.

I believe it would be appropriate for others to make
representations.

The Chairman: In addition to the names Senator Milne
recommended, are there any others who you believe could add
value to the committee’s deliberations?

M. Stuart : Comme je n’étais pas ici quand ce processus a été
entamé, je n’en suis pas sir, mais je pense que ces dispositions font
partie des éléments d’ordre administratif dont il est question dans le
projet de loi. Le principal but visé est le changement de
dénomination, mais étant donné que nous ne venons pas
régulierement devant le Parlement pour faire modifier une loi,
notre but était de régler les questions d’ordre administratif de
maniére a ce que nous ayons un réglement qui régisse
lorganisation, et que le réglement ait les éléments qui sont
indiqués la-dedans. Le projet de loi définit plus clairement nos
responsabilités en ce qui concerne I’acquisition et I’aliénation de
propriétés, et d’autres choses. C’est vraiment le but visé. Quand on
parle de ménage administratif, c’est I'objectif de ce projet de loi.

Le sénateur Milne : J’ai des craintes. Vous vous débrouillez
bien sans cette loi. Vous ne voulez, en réalité, que le changement
de dénomination. Je m’interroge sur la nécessité de ce supplément
complexe du projet de loi.

Vous avez dit qu’il y avait trois principaux opposants dont
M. Armstrong, qui est maintenant président du conseil
d’administration.

M. Stuart : Oui.

Le sénateur Milne : D’ou vient-il?

M. Stuart : Il est de Winnipeg.

Le sénateur Milne : Est-ce qu’il serait prudent de I'inviter, de
méme que M. Claxton, devant le comité pour que nous puissions
entendre les deux points de vue? Est-ce qu’ils se sauteraient a la
gorge I'un de I'autre? Pourrions-nous les inviter a titre d’experts
de la question?

M. Stuart : Ce sont des scouts; ils sauront se montrer
respectueux.

Le sénateur Di Nino : Nous voudrions rappeler a tout le monde
que M. Claxton et les gens qui ont exprimé de ’opposition sont
encore membres du mouvement scout. Il y a des dissidents dans
toute organisation. C’est sain, démocratique, et certainement pas
mal regu. Par conséquent, je pense qu’il est bon de les entendre.

Quant aux modifications administratives, le projet de loi
stipule que le siége de I’association est a Ottawa. Ce n’est pas
d’hier, bien que cela n’ait jamais été précisé dans le réglement. Il
stipule qu’il doit y avoir une réunion générale annuelle. Cela se
fait déja.

Quand j’ai interrogé ’avocat la-dessus, il a dit que le projet de
loi est simplement pour légaliser ce qui se fait déja. Il n’y a que
trés peu, sinon pas de changement de fond, a part ce qui s’est déja
fait.

Je pense qu’il serait bon d’entendre d’autres présentations
la-dessus.

Le président : Outre les personnes que recommande le sénateur
Milne, il y en a-t-il d’autres qui, selon vous, pourraient enrichir les
délibérations du comité?
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Senator Di Nino: I did not anticipate any problem with this,
and I am not complaining. I could probably fill the Senate with
hundreds, if not thousands, of people who would come here in
support of the bill. I do not think that anyone wants that.

Time is of the essence. As I said, 2007 is the centenary of
Scouting. I would like this to be dealt with before the end of the
year, although that is up to the committee. I would be satisfied if
you had a meeting to hear from two or three people from either
side for 20 minutes each. That would add value to the Scouting
movement and to this process.

The Chairman: Thank you.
Senator Milne: I agree.

Senator Di Nino: I have no problem with that suggestion at all,
as I stated in the Senate.

Mr. Stewart: To clarify a point made by Senator Di Nino with
regard to the relationships, Glenn Armstrong and Keith Martin,
two of the opponents, held positions of leadership within the
organization. At the time, Mr. Armstrong was the council
president for Manitoba and Mr. Martin was the council
president for British Columbia. They had a number of concerns
with the bylaws, so they led a charge to enforce a dialogue, as a
result of which over 50 changes were made.

Senator Milne: Was that before this bill?

Mr. Stewart: The bill was already here. You are correct that
there are a couple of things in the bill. There is the name change.
It is my interpretation that the challenge being made is more
related to democracy or lack thereof within the organization.

Mr. Martin and Mr. Armstrong challenged a whole host of
items within the bylaw, which caused the organization to regroup
and have further extensive consultations with the councils that
had concerns about the way the bylaw was laid out. As a result of
that process, over 50 amendments were reviewed and the majority
decision was to accept the bylaw that we currently operate under
in Scouts Canada.

Senator Milne: None of those amendments are reflected in the
bill before us?

Mr. Stewart: No: This bill speaks broadly of the bylaw. The
bylaw by which we have governed is a thick document that lays
out roles and responsibilities, councils, voting, who the members
are and such things. That is what the discussion was at the time.

Senator Milne: This bill enshrines that bylaw as it stands, or
can it be altered in the future?

Mr. Stewart: I would have to ask someone with more
qualifications than I have, but my understanding is that it
would not enshrine the bylaw, that the bylaw could be amended.
As an example, on the issue of democracy, we are still working to
ensure that we reach agreement. You can only imagine how much

Le sénateur Di Nino : Je n’ai pas prévu que cela puisse poser
des problémes, et je ne m’en plains pas. Je pourrais probablement
remplir le Sénat de centaines, sinon de milliers de gens qui
viendraient ici a 'appui du projet de loi. Je ne pense pas que
personne veuille cela.

Le temps compte. Comme je 1’ai dit, en 2007, le mouvement
scout féte son centenaire. J’aimerais que ce soit réglé avant la fin
de 'année, mais cela dépend du comité. Il me conviendrait que
dans le cadre d’une réunion, vous entendiez deux ou trois
personnes exposer ’une ou I’autre perspective, pour une vingtaine
de minutes chacun. Ce serait enrichissant pour le mouvement
Scout et ce processus.

Le président : Merci.
Le sénateur Milne : Je suis d’accord.

Le sénateur Di Nino : Cette suggestion ne me pose pas le
moindre probléme, comme je I’ai dit au Sénat.

M. Stewart : Pour clarifier quelque chose qu’a dit le
sénateur Di Nino au sujet des relations, Glenn Armstrong et
Keith Martin, deux des opposants, ont eu des postes de dirigeant
dans I'organisation. A ’époque, M. Armstrong était le président
du conseil du Manitoba et M. Martin était le président du conseil
de la Colombie-Britannique. Les réglements leur inspiraient
diverses craintes, alors ils ont pris la téte d’'un mouvement pour
forcer un dialogue, en conséquence duquel 50 modifications ont
été apportées.

Le sénateur Milne : Est-ce que c’était avant ce projet de loi?

M. Stewart : Le projet de loi existait déja. Vous avez raison, le
projet de loi comporte divers éléments. Il y a le changement de
dénomination. Selon mon interprétation, ce qui est contesté
concerne plus la démocratie ou son absence au sein de
I’organisation.

MM. Martin et Armstrong ont contesté tout un tas d’aspects
du réglement, ce qui a amené 1’organisation a se regrouper et a
mener des consultations plus approfondies avec les conseils qui se
préoccupaient de la maniére le réglement était formulé. En
conséquence de ce processus, plus de 50 modifications ont été
passées en revue et la décision majoritaire a été d’accepter le
réglement que nous appliquons actuellement, a Scouts Canada.

Le sénateur Milne : Aucune de ces modifications n’apparait
dans le projet de loi que nous avons ici?

M. Stewart : Non. Ce projet de loi traite du réglement dans un
sens général. Le réglement qui nous régit est un épais document
qui décrit les roles et responsabilités, les conseils, les votes, qui
sont les membres, et ce genre de choses. C’est ce dont il a été
discuté a I’époque.

Le sénateur Milne : Ce projet de loi promulgue ce réglement tel
qu’il est, ou peut-il étre modifié a ’avenir?

M. Stewart : Il faudrait que je pose la question a quelqu’un de
plus compétent que moi en la matiére, mais d’aprés ce que j’ai
compris, il n’enchasserait pas le réglement, le réglement pourrait
étre modifié. Par exemple, au sujet de la démocratie, nous nous

A

efforcons encore de parvenir a une entente. Vous pouvez
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fun it is in our country to have everyone to agree on a voting
procedure. We are still working on a piece that clearly provides
guidance as to how the voting delegates are chosen. It is currently
done in a number of different ways across the country.

My view is that we would retain the right to amend the bylaw
without using the legislative process.

Senator Di Nino: Clause 7 of the bill states:

At any annual or special general meeting, the
Corporation may make, amend, or repeal by-laws for all
purposes of the Corporation and, without limiting the
generality...

That is absolutely clear. This is not intended to do anything
other than make administrative and technical changes that should
have been made a long ago, in addition to changing the name of
the organization.

Senator Andreychuk: If I recall, it is under the not-for-profit
portion of the Canada Corporations Act that, if you change your
constitution, not your bylaws, you must go through this process.

If that is the case, is this the sum total of your constitution as
opposed to bylaws? How do you get to this point? I know that the
corporations branch has a standard constitution for those
organizations that do not have a format to follow. How do you
comply with the Canada Corporations Act, or have you gone
beyond what the act requires?

Senator Di Nino: That is a good question.

Senator Milne: They need to get back to us on that.

Mr. Stewart: I am not sure about that.

Senator Di Nino: My understanding is that the bylaws of the
corporation will govern the organization, and this legislation
would be in support of rather than in addition to. The bill states
clearly it is still the right of the organization to make, change and
amend bylaws.

It would be best to have a proper legal answer.

Senator Andreychuk: Maybe we should have a witness refresh
our memories as to why this bill is before us. I believe that some
religious institutions have asked for the same thing. Senator
Corbin has asked why we should pass judgment on organizations
in this way and he said that this is an archaic way of doing it. We
have been appealing to governments to look into this situation. I
presume this is one more organization in that framework.

Senator Di Nino: That is right.

certainement vous imaginer quel plaisir c’est, dans notre pays,
d’essayer d’amener tout le monde a s’entendre sur la procédure de
scrutin. Nous travaillons encore sur un texte de directives claires
sur le mode de sélection les délégués votant. Des méthodes
diverses sont actuellement appliquées dans tout le pays.

A mon avis, nous conserverions le droit de modifier le
réglement sans passer par le processus législatif.

Le sénateur Di Nino : L’article 7 du projet de loi stipule :

A chaque assemblée générale annuelle ou spéciale,
I’Association peut prendre, modifier ou abroger ses
réglements administratifs aux fins qui lui sont utiles...

C’est absolument clair. Ceci ne vise a rien faire d’autre que de
confirmer les modifications administratives et techniques qui
auraient di étre apportées il y a longtemps, en plus de changer la
dénomination de ’association.

Le sénateur Andreychuk : Si je me souviens bien, c’est dans la
partie concernant les organismes sans but lucratif de la Loi sur les
corporations canadiennes qu’on lit que si vous modifiez votre
constitution, pas votre réglement, vous devez passer par ce
processus.

Si c’est le cas, est-ce que ceci est la somme de votre
constitution, par opposition aux réglements administratifs?
Comment parvenez-vous a ce point-ci? Je sais que la partie des
corporations a une structure standard pour les organisations qui
n’ont pas de format a suivre. Comment observez-vous la Loi sur
les corporations canadiennes, ou étes-vous allés plus loin que ce
que la loi exige?

Le sénateur Di Nino : C’est une bonne question.

Le sénateur Milne : Ils devront nous fournir la réponse
ultérieurement.

M. Stewart : Je n’en suis pas sir.

Le sénateur Di Nino : A ce que je comprends, les réglements
administratifs de I’association régiront I’organisation, et cette loi
les appuierait, au plus tot en serait le complément. Le projet de loi
stipule clairement que I’association conserve le droit de prendre,
modifier et changer les réglements administratifs.

Il vaudrait mieux avoir un avis juridique en bonne et due forme
sur la question.

Le sénateur Andreychuk : Peut-étre devrions-nous demander a
un témoin de nous rafraichir la mémoire sur la raison pour
laquelle ce projet de loi nous est présenté. Je crois que certaines
institutions religieuses ont demandé la méme chose. Le sénateur
Corbin a demandé pourquoi nous devrions ainsi porter un
jugement sur les organisations, et il a décrété que c’était une facon
archaique de procéder. Nous avons fait appel auprés des
gouvernements qui s’intéressent a cette situation. Je suppose
que c’est une organisation de plus dans ce cas.

Le sénateur Di Nino : C’est juste.
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Senator Andreychuk: We should allow Scouts Canada to
govern themselves in a more modern way and be accountable to
their membership rather than coming to Parliament. It makes us
uncomfortable.

Senator Di Nino: With all due respect, Scouts Canada does
govern itself. That is the point I am trying to make. This bill does
not affect the bylaws and the running of the organization other
than to reflect those things that were intended to be reflected in
the original charter of 1914.

The Chairman: Senator Di Nino, I am new to this committee,
as you know. The researcher from the Library of Parliament
handed me a document that I have not seen before, which
responds, in part at least, to Senator Andreychuk’s point.

It is the report of the Standing Senate Committee on Legal and
Constitutional Affairs of Thursday, March 25, 2004. To their
third report they appended the following observations:

On the other hand, your Committee believes that the time
has passed when private corporations incorporated by a
Special Act of Parliament should be required to return to
Parliament to modernize their governance structures. Your
Committee has previously recommended that the Canada
Corporations Act should be amended to permit these
corporations to regulate such matters internally, and we
reiterate that recommendation in the context of Queen’s
Theological College and all other Special Act corporations
in the same situation.

Part III of the Canada Corporations Act is entitled “Special
Act Corporations.”

Senator Di Nino: I understand that and was aware of it.

Senator Joyal: I was at the committee when Senator
Andreychuk made that observation. I believe the committee was
unanimous that it was appropriate.

It surprises me that the bill refers to the Canada Corporations
Act only at clause 12 where it makes an exception to
section 102 of the act. It does not say that the other parts of
the act apply to the Boy Scouts. It is odd that there is not a clause
in the bill stating that for all other matters the Boy Scouts of
Canada fall under section 3 of the Canada Corporations Act. We
know the regime of the Canada Corporations Act, but this bill
only mentions that act with regard to an exception, while in fact
the act does not seem to apply to them.

To me, as a lawyer, that seems strange.

If the Canada Corporations Act does not formally apply to the
Boy Scouts, you should at least have the financial statements
tabled each year at your general assembly. That is not mentioned
in the bill. One important thing with regard to raising money is to
publish financial statements on a yearly basis and to table and

Le sénateur Andreychuk : Nous autoriserions Scouts Canada a
se gouverner d'une maniére plus moderne et de rendre compte de
ses activités a son effectif plutot que de venir au Parlement. Cela
nous géne.

Le sénateur Di Nino : Si vous permettez, Scouts Canada se
gouverne. C’est exactement ce que j'essaye de faire comprendre.
Ce projet de loi ne modifie en rien les réglements administratifs ni
le fonctionnement de l’organisation, a part pour refléter ces
choses qui étaient censée étre reflétées dans la charte originale
de 1914.

Le président : Sénateur Di Nino, je suis nouveau au comité,
vous le savez. L’attaché de recherche de la Bibliothéque du
Parlement m’a remis un document que je n’avais pas vu
auparavant, qui répond, du moins en partie, a la question du
sénateur Andreychuk.

C’est le rapport du Comité sénatorial permanent des affaires
juridiques et constitutionnelles du mardi 25 mars 2004. Ils ont
annexé a leur troisiéme rapport les observations suivantes :

Par ailleurs, le comité croit que les sociétés privées
constituées par une loi spéciale du Parlement ne devraient
plus avoir a s’adresser au Parlement pour moderniser
leurs structures de gouvernance. Le comité avait déja
recommandé de modifier la loi sur les corporations
canadiennes afin que les sociétés puissent régler ces
questions a I'interne, et nous présentons de nouveau cette
recommandation dans le cas du Queen’s Theological College
et de toutes les autres sociétés constituées par des lois
spéciales placées dans la méme situation.

La troisiéme partie de la Loi sur les corporations canadiennes
est intitulée « Sociétés constituées par des lois spéciales. »

Le sénateur Di Nino : Je le comprends et je le savais.

Le sénateur Joyal : J’étais au comité quand le sénateur
Andreychuk a fait cette observation. Je crois que le comité était
d’avis unanime que c’était pertinent.

Je suis étonné que le projet de loi ne fasse mention de la Loi sur
les corporations canadiennes qu’a ’article 12, pour énoncer une
exception a I’application de I’article 102 de la loi. Cela ne dit pas
que les autres parties de la loi s’appliquent aux Scouts. Il est
bizarre qu’il n’y ait pas, dans le projet de loi, une seule disposition
stipulant que pour toutes les autres questions, Scouts Canada est
assujetti a larticle 3 de la Loi sur les corporations canadiennes.
Nous connaissons le régime de la Loi sur les corporations
canadiennes, mais ce projet de loi ne mentionne cette loi qu’en
rapport avec une exception, alors qu’en fait, la loi ne semble pas
s’y appliquer.

Pour moi qui suis avocat, c’est bizarre.

Si la Loi sur les corporations canadiennes ne s’applique pas
formellement aux Scouts, il faudrait au moins que les états
financiers soient présentés chaque année lors de votre assemblée
générale. Ce n’est pas mentionné dans le projet de loi. Il y a une
chose qui est importante, quand on recueille de I’argent, c’est de
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approve them at your annual assembly. That is the normal
practice for any corporation, be it commercial or non-profit,
under Part III of the Canada Corporations Act.

Clause 6 of the bill reads:

At each annual general meeting of the Corporation, the
Corporation shall elect an executive committee from among
its members...

It also says that at its annual meeting the corporation may
make bylaws. I read the bylaws to see if they refer to approving
the financial statement and electing the auditors. Normally, those
two motions are essential at any general assembly.

Senator Andreychuk: Senator Joyal, if I recall, you led the
discussion previously on what the Canada Corporations Act
demands to be in the constitution and what it allows to be in
bylaws.

Senator Joyal: Yes, we have had this discussion before in
relation to another bill. I was trying to learn what you do not have
in the bill that is in the Canada Corporations Act and vice versa. I
do not have the Canada Corporations Act before me, but I raise
this point because we should have some information from your
legal advisers. These questions will be on the record, so they can
read them.

I see issues with the French version of the bill.
Clause 1 of the bill says “The Corporation.” The bill refers to
chapter 130 of the Statutes of Canada and in French, it is called
“La personne morale.” In clause 2, the corporation is referred
to as “L’association.” Clause 3 says, “The Corporation has the
capacity of a natural person....” In French it reads, “L’association
a la capacité d’une personne physique....”

It seems odd to me to refer to “une personne physique” for a
corporation. There are issues in all kinds of legislation that might
apply to “une personne physique.” We understand that a moral
entity has a status that “une personne physique” does not have. If
you say that it is “une personne morale” in clause 1 and then say
that the corporation has the capacity of a natural person and,
subject to this act, all the powers, rights and privileges of a natural
person, I can give you a list of rights and privilege that a natural
person has according to the Charter and the Constitution that a
corporation does not have.

Senator Rivest: Marriage.
Senator Joyal: Yes, among others.

Senator Di Nino: Do you really want to bring that up?

Senator Joyal: I thought about it, but I did not want to
mention it. He reads my mind; that is the problem.

publier des états financiers tous les ans, les présenter et les faire
approuver a votre assemblée annuelle. C’est la norme pour
n’importe quelle société, qu’elle soit commerciale ou sans but
lucratif, en vertu de la partie III de la Loi sur les corporations
canadiennes.

L’article 6 du projet de loi stipule :

A chaque assemblée annuelle, I’association élit un comité
exécutif parmi ses membres...

11 stipule aussi que lors de sa réunion annuelle, la corporation
peut prendre réglement. J’ai lu les réglements pour voir s’il y est
question de I'approbation des états financiers de I’élection des
vérificateurs. Normalement, ces deux motions sont essentielles
lors de n’importe quelle assemblée générale.

Le sénateur Andreychuk : Sénateur Joyal, si je me souviens
bien, vous avez dirigé la discussion, auparavant, sur ce que la Loi
sur les corporations canadiennes exige qu’il y ait dans la
constitution, et ce qu’elle permet d’avoir dans les réglements
administratifs.

Le sénateur Joyal : Oui, nous avons eu cette discussion
auparavant, en rapport avec un autre projet de loi. J’essayais de
déterminer ce qu’il n’y a pas dans le projet de loi et qui est dans la
Loi sur les corporations canadiennes, et vice versa. Je n’ai pas la
Loi sur les corporations canadiennes devant moi, mais j’ai soulevé
la question parce que nous devrions recevoir des renseignements
de nos conseillers juridiques. Ces questions seront au registre,
alors ils peuvent les lire.

Je vois des problémes avec la version frangaise du projet de loi.
L’article 1 du projet de loi parle de « The Corporation ».
Le projet de loi se rapporte au chapitre 130 des Statuts du
Canada et, en francais, elle est appelée « la personne morale ».
A Tarticle 2, la personne morale est appelée « L’association ».
A Tarticle 3, en anglais c’est « The Corporation has the capacity
of a natural person... » et en frangais, on lit « L’association a la
capacité d’une personne physique... ».

Il me semble bizarre de désigner une corporation par les termes
«une personne physique ». Il y a donc des enjeux, dans toutes
sortes de lois, qui pourraient s’appliquer a « une personne
physique ». Nous comprenons qu’une entité morale jouit d’un
statut qu'une « personne physique» n’a pas. Si vous dites que c’est
« une personne morale » a I'article 1, et ensuite que ’organisation
a la capacité d’une « personne physique », et, en vertu de cette loi,
tous les pouvoirs, droits et priviléges d’une personne physique, je
peux vous donner une liste de droits et priviléges dont jouit une
personne physique selon la Charte et la Constitution, que n’a pas
une organisation.

Le sénateur Rivest : Le mariage.
Le sénateur Joyal : Oui, entre autres.

Le sénateur Di Nino : Est-ce que vous voulez vraiment parler
de cela?

Le sénateur Joyal : J’y ai pensé, mais je ne voulais pas le
mentionner. Il lit dans ma pensée. Le probléme, c’est que ¢a me
chicote.
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Senator Di Nino: I suspected that.

With regard to the first two issues you brought up, there is
obviously an annual financial statement prepared and, yes, the
auditors are properly appointed. You know that is the case, but |
do not know whether it belongs here from a legal standpoint. I
know nothing about the law.

As far as the French is concerned, one relies for the preparation
of bills on the lawyers and on our own law clerk. I did not look at
the French in that manner. That is a good observation. I
appreciate that it must be changed. That is a technical change that
I think can be accomplished relatively easily.

Senator Joyal: The issue of membership needs to be refined.
Clause 1(2) reads, in French:

L’association est constituée des personnes qui la
composaient a I’entrée....

In English it reads:

...consists of those persons who are members of the
Corporation....

In clause 6, the bill reads:

A chaque assemblée générale annuelle, ’association élit
un comité exécutif parmi ses membres....

It does not say whether “the members” are only the board
members, the present board members, or any person who is a
member of the Boy Scouts. There is at least a two-level
imprecision there that probably should be clarified.

As I stated earlier, if the bill referred to section 3 of the Canada
Corporations Act, we would know exactly the legal regime under
which the Scouts would fall. This bill could digress from that
section to acknowledge your particular way of operating. The
problem is that you propose something that does not cover
everything and there is no reference to where we can get the
answers.

There is some legal imprecision on the new status of Scouts
Canada. If the organization takes the opportunity to rewrite their
constitution, it deals with the areas that are left blank. Under
section 4 of the act, the bylaws of a corporation must set out
clearly the responsibilities of a non-profit corporation. When the
corporation is not covered by section 3 of the Canada
Corporations Act, it must put it in its constituting act, and the
bill covers some and leaves others out. There is some imprecision
in terms of membership.

There are three levels of a corporation. There is the
membership at large, which elects a board. The members of the
board elect the executive. That is the normal structure of any
corporation, be it commercial or non-profit. This bill does not
make clear how the corporation operates. I do not question how it
prefers to operate, but we must understand clearly from reading
the statute how the organization functions. Is Scouts Canada an
exception to the Canada Corporations Act or does it fall under

Le sénateur Di Nino : Je le soupconnais.

En ce qui concerne les deux sujets que vous avez soulevés, il est
évident que des états financiers sont préparés tous les ans et, oui,
les vérificateurs sont correctement désignés. Vous le savez, mais je
ne sais pas si cela a rien a voir ici, du point de vue juridique. Je ne
sais rien de la loi.

Pour ce qui est du frangais, on se fie, pour la préparation des
projets de loi, sur les avocats et notre propre commis juridique. Je
n’ai pas vu la version frangaise sous cet angle. C’est une bonne
observation. Je comprends que ce doit étre changé. C’est une
modification technique qui, je pense, peut étre faite relativement
facilement.

Le sénateur Joyal : Il faudrait mieux définir la question de
leffectif. Le paragraphe 1(2) stipule, en francais :

L’association est constituée des personnes qui la
composaient a I’entrée...

Et en anglais, c’est :

. consists of those persons who are members of the
Corporation...

A Tarticle 6, on lit :

A chaque assemblée générale annuelle, I’association élit
un comité exécutif parmi ses membres...

Elle ne dit pas si « les membres » sont seulement les membres
du conseil d’administration, les membres actuels, ou n’importe
quel membre de Scouts Canada. Il y a au moins une imprécision
sur deux niveaux, ici, qu’il faudrait probablement préciser.

Comme je l'ai dit tout a I’heure, si le projet de loi faisait
référence a article 3 de la Loi sur les corporations canadiennes,
nous saurions exactement sous quel régime fonctionne Scouts
Canada. Ce projet de loi pourrait digresser de cet article pour
reconnaitre votre mode de fonctionnement particulier. Le
probléme, c’est que si vous proposez quelque chose qui ne
couvre pas tout et qu’il n’y a pas de référence quant a I’endroit ou
on peut trouver les réponses.

Le nouveau statut de Scouts Canada présente quelques
imprécisions au plan juridique. Si ’organisation saisit I’occasion
de refondre sa constitution, elle régle les éléments imprécis. A
l’article 4 de la loi, les réglements administratifs d’une personne
morale doivent décrire clairement les responsabilités d’une société
sans but lucratif. Quand la personne morale n’est pas visée par
l’article 3 de la Loi sur les corporations canadiennes, ce doit étre
indiqué dans I’acte constitutif, et le projet de loi vise certains
aspects, et d’autres pas. Il y a du flou en ce qui concerne ’effectif.

Il y a trois niveaux dans une organisation. Il y a P'effectif dans
son ensemble, qui élit un conseil d’administration. Les membres
du conseil d’administration élisent 1’exécutif. C’est la structure
normale de n’importe quelle organisation, qu’elle soit
commerciale ou sans but lucratif. Ce projet de loi ne dit pas
clairement comment fonctionne I’organisation. Je ne mets pas en
doute ces préférences quant a son fonctionnement, mais nous
devons comprendre clairement, a la lecture de la loi, comment
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the act with its normal operations? Where does Scouts Canada
differ from the common law regime of the Canada Corporations
Act?

That is the problem. That is why we made the observations we
did two years ago, which the chair read. There is a discrepancy. |
have no problem with the request, but we need to understand the
request with regard to the obligation in section 3 of the Canada
Corporations Act, because the corporation is obviously
non-profit.

Senator Di Nino: In the last three Parliaments, the issue has
arisen of why corporations should come to the Parliament of
Canada with this legislation when it can be done through the
Canada Corporations Act. Scouting is one of the oldest
organizations in the country and it been symbolically associated
with this. It was granted its charter through an act of Parliament.
Scouting has always had a closeness to the development of our
country and all entities of our society. Scouting wants to keep that
symbolism, and I support that. When this issue ame up in the
Senate, I responded to Senator Corbin that Scouting has asked
that this be continued. Obviously, Parliament must make its
choice.

The Scouts are unquestionably governed by the Canada
Corporations Act, as are all corporations in this country, unless
they are excluded for some reason of which I have no knowledge.

This discussion is useful in that Mr. Stewart and I are not
capable of answering these legal questions. We wanted to have
our legal counsel attend today, but he was not available. We were
told that he is out of the country. However, I wanted to impress
upon colleagues that, for the reasons I have stated a number of
times, we would like to have this bill dealt with by the Senate as
soon as reasonably possible so that the House of Commons can
deal with it early in the new year in order that it can be finally
dealt with before the celebrations for the one-hundredth
anniversary of Scouting.

If a convenient time for the committee could be found in the
week after our recess, or shortly thereafter, we would be pleased
to hear from those who have some concerns. That is why we are
here. I am happy to do that and would urge the chair and the
committee to arrange that meeting in the near future so that we
can send this bill to the House of Commons before we rise for the
Christmas break. Hopefully the House of Commons will deal with
it expeditiously at the beginning of the new year.

The Chairman: Thank you. This committee normally has a lot
of government legislation before it, and government legislation
has traditionally taken priority over private bills. The committee
will keep that suggestion in mind.

Senator Milne: Mr. Chairman, is it possible for the Library of
Parliament to look at the translation issues that Senator Joyal has
brought up and see whether there is appropriate replacement
wording?

fonctionne l'organisation. Est-ce que Scouts Canada est une
exception a la Loi sur les corporations canadiennes, ou est-elle
régie par la Loi, dans ses opérations normales? En quoi est-ce que
Scouts Canada différe du régime juridique commun de la Loi sur
les corporations canadiennes?

C’est pourquoi nous avons fait il y a deux ans ces observations
que vient de lire le président. 11 y a cette différence. Je ne vois pas
de probléme avec la demande, mais nous devons comprendre la
demande en ce qui concerne I’obligation a l’article 3 de la Loi sur
les corporations canadiennes, parce que l’organisation est
manifestement sans but lucratif.

Le sénateur Di Nino : La question a été soulevée, lors des trois
derniéres législatures, a savoir pourquoi les organisations
devraient s’adresser au Parlement du Canada pour cette loi,
quand cela peut étre réglé par le biais de la Loi sur les
corporations canadiennes? Les Scouts sont parmi les plus
anciennes organisations du pays, et sont symboliquement
associés a ceci. La charte de I'organisation lui a été accordée
par une loi du Parlement. Le scoutisme a toujours été lié¢ de prés a
I’évolution de notre pays et a toutes les entités de notre société.
Les scouts veulent garder ce symbolisme, et je I’appuie. Quand
cette question a été soulevée au Sénat, j’ai répondu au
sénateur Corbin que les scouts demandaient que cela continue.
De toute évidence, le Parlement doit faire un choix.

Les Scouts sont, sans conteste, régis par la Loi sur les
corporations canadiennes, au méme titre que toutes les
corporations de ce pays, a moins d’étre exclus pour une raison
que j’ignore.

Cette discussion est utile en ce sens que M. Stewart et moi ne
pouvons pas répondre aux questions d’ordre juridique. Nous
voulions nous faire accompagner aujourd’hui de notre conseiller
juridique, mais il n’était pas libre. On nous a dit qu’il était a
I’étranger. Cependant, je voulais faire comprendre a mes colléegues
que, pour les raisons que j’ai énoncées a diverses reprises, nous
souhaitons que ce projet de loi soit adopté au Sénat aussitot qu’il
peut I’étre raisonnablement afin que la Chambre des communes
puisse I'adopter au début de I'année prochaine afin que I’affaire
soit réglée avant la célébration du centenaire du scoutisme.

Si le comité peut trouver un moment dans la semaine qui suit le
congé, ou peu apres, nous reviendrons avec plaisir entendre ceux
qui ont des préoccupations. C’est pourquoi nous sommes ici. Je le
fais avec plaisir et j'incite vivement le président et le comité a
convoquer cette réunion trés bientdt pour que nous puissions
transmettre ce projet de loi a la Chambre des communes avant
I’ajournement pour les Fétes. Espérons que la Chambre des
communes réglera rapidement la question au début de la nouvelle
année.

Le président : Merci. Ce comité traite normalement de
nombreuses lois, et les lois du gouvernement ont toujours
priorité sur les lois d’initiative privée. Le comité tiendra compte
de cette suggestion.

Le sénateur Milne : Monsieur le président, est-il possible a la
Bibliothéque du Parlement d’examiner les questions relatives a la
traduction qu’a soulevées le sénateur Joyal, et de voir s’il est
possible de modifier le libellé?
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The Chairman: The library will look into that and report back
soon.

Senator Joyal: I totally share the concern of Scouts Canada as
expressed by Senator Di Nino. I do not think any one of us wants
to delay this; we only want to make sure it is right.

The questions we have raised will be in the transcript of the
proceedings of the committee. If you pass them on to your legal
advisers, the next time we meet they can answer those answers
quickly. That would be an expeditious way to deal with this bill.
We do not want to create more problems. You already have many
to solve. It is expensive to bring witnesses here, but we are
responsible, as a house of Parliament, to ensure that we do things
appropriately according to the laws of Canada. We do not want
to delay this bill. We would be happy for you to have the new
statute by your anniversary next year.

Senator Di Nino: I want to thank you for your time. This
exchange has been extremely useful. As Senator Joyal suggested,
we will have answers from legal counsel who, I hope, will sit here
in a week or two.

Senator Joyal: I have one further question. Clause 13(e) says
that all the acts mentioned in paragraphs (a), (b), (¢) and (d) are
repealed, keeping only section 1 of an act that is chapter 68 of the
Statutes of Canada, 1968-69.

Perhaps at the next meeting your lawyer could tell us exactly
what is in that section that you are keeping while abolishing all
the other acts.

Senator Di Nino: Absolutely.

The Chairman: Senator Di Nino and Mr. Stewart, on behalf of
the committee I want to thank you both very much for coming
today and answering those tough legal questions. Thank you for
your overview.

Honourable senators, the committee will continue with an in
camera meeting to discuss our ongoing business.

The committee continued in camera.

OTTAWA, Thursday, November 9, 2006

The Standing Senate Committee on Legal and Constitutional
Affairs, to which was referred Bill S-213, to amend the Criminal
Code (cruelty to animals), met this day at 10:50 a.m. to give
consideration to the bill.

Senator Donald H. Oliver (Chairman) in the chair.

[English]

The Chairman: Honourable senators, this is our first meeting in
relation to Bill S-213, an act to amend the Criminal Code (cruelty
to animals).

Le président : La bibliothéque examinera cela et nous en fera
bientdt rapport.

Le sénateur Joyal : Je partage enti¢rement les préoccupations
de Scouts Canada qu’a exprimées le sénateur Di Nino. Je ne
pense pas qu’aucun de nous voudrait retarder cela; nous voulons
seulement nous assurer que ce soit bien fait.

Les questions que nous avons soulevées seront dans
la transcription des délibérations du comité. Si vous les
transmettez a vos conseillers juridiques, la prochaine fois que
nous nous rencontrerons, ils pourront y répondre rapidement. Ce
serait une fagon expéditive de régler ce projet de loi. Nous ne
voulons pas créer plus de problémes. Vous en avez déja bien assez
a résoudre. Il est coliteux de faire venir des témoins, mais nous
sommes tenus, en tant que chambre du Parlement, de nous
assurer de faire les choses correctement, conformément aux lois
du Canada. Nous ne souhaitons pas retarder ce projet de loi.
Nous serions heureux que votre nouveau statut soit en vigueur
pour votre anniversaire I’année prochaine.

Le sénateur Di Nino : Je tiens a vous remercier pour votre temps.
Cet échange a été extrémement constructif. Comme 1’a suggéré le
sénateur Joyal, nous obtiendrons les réponses du conseiller
juridique qui, je I’espére, sera ici dans une semaine ou deux.

Le sénateur Joyal : J’ai une autre question. L’alinéa 13¢)
stipule que les lois mentionnées aux alinéas a), b), ¢) et d) sont
abrogées, ne gardant que l’article 1 d’une loi qui est le
chapitre 68 des Statuts du Canada de 1968-1969.

Peut-étre a notre prochaine réunion votre avocat pourra-t-il
nous dire exactement ce qu’il y a dans cet article que vous
maintenez, alors que vous abolissez toutes les autres lois.

Le sénateur Di Nino : Absolument.

Le président : Sénateur Di Nino et monsieur Stewart, au nom
du comité, je tiens a vous remercier tous les deux d’étre venus
aujourd’hui et d’avoir répondu a ces difficiles questions d’ordre
juridique. Merci pour I’apergu que vous nous avez donné.

Honorables sénateurs, le comité poursuivra sa réunion a huis
clos pour discuter de ses affaires courantes.

La séance se poursuit a huis clos.

OTTAWA, le jeudi 9 novembre 2006

Le Comité sénatorial permanent des affaires juridiques et
constitutionnelles, auquel a été renvoy¢ le projet de loi S-213, Loi
modifiant le Code criminel (cruauté envers les animaux) se réunit
aujourd’hui a 10 h 50 pour procéder a I’étude de ce projet de loi.

Le sénateur Donald H. Oliver (président) occupe le fauteuil.

[Traduction]

Le président : Honorables sénateurs, c’est la premiére séance
que nous consacrons a I’étude du projet de loi S-213, Loi
modifiant le Code criminel (cruauté envers les animaux).
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The purpose of this bill seems straightforward. It is designed to
amend the sections of the Criminal Code of Canada dealing with
cruelty to animals to increase the penalties for the offences found
there. However, as interested parties know and, more specifically,
as many members of this committee know, there has been
significant action in this area in the last few years and it is a
matter that has become rather controversial.

A number of bills have been introduced in Parliament to
update the animal cruelty provisions, which date from the
first codification of the Criminal Code in 1892. These bills
include Bill C-17 in 1999, Bill C-15 and Bill C-15B, Bill C-10 and
Bill C-10B, Bill C-22 and Bill C-50, none of which have received
Royal Assent. The latest bill from the House of Commons,
Bill C-50, would create a new section in the Criminal Code
dealing with animal cruelty, thereby removing this area from the
section of the Criminal Code dealing with property.

To begin our work on this bill, I am extremely pleased to
welcome our colleague, The Honourable Senator John Bryden
from New Brunswick, the sponsor of this bill. Senator Bryden has
been involved in the discussions in this matter as a member of this
committee in recent years, and he will provide us with the
background and overview needed for us to commence our study.
He will be followed by officials from the Department of Justice,
represented by Donald Piragoff and Joanne Klineberg.

Hon. John G. Bryden, sponsor of the bill: Thank you for
allowing me to make this presentation. Just before starting, I will
indicate that my presentation and my focus is on this bill, its
positives and negatives, if any. You will deal with the history in
the manner you wish. I can help by answering some questions,
perhaps, but this is not a complicated bill. It is a very humble
attempt to make progress. Therefore, forgive me if I concentrate
on this bill and what it does.

Honourable senators, Bill S-213 increases the maximum
penalties a court may impose for offences under
sections 444 to 447 of the Criminal Code, dealing with animal
cruelty. Otherwise, these animal cruelty sections of the Code are
unchanged. The provisions of these sections that create the
offences remain exactly as they exist today and have existed for a
number of years, as the chairman pointed out earlier.

In the existing code, all offences are punishable only on
summary conviction, that is, up to a $2,000 fine or six months
imprisonment, with the exception of one indictable offence that
goes way back for poisoning cattle and has a jail sentence of up to
five years.

In Bill S-213, every offence can be treated as either an
indictable offence punishable by up to five years imprisonment
or a summary conviction offence punishable by a fine of up to

L’objet de ce projet de loi est explicite. Il vise a modifier les
articles du Code criminel traitant de la cruauté envers les animaux
de fagon a augmenter les peines pour infractions de cruauté envers
les animaux. Cependant, comme le savent les personnes
intéressées, et plus particulierement de nombreux membres de ce
comité, il y a eu beaucoup d’action dans ce domaine au cours des
derniéres années et c’est une question qui est devenue un sujet de
controverse.

Un certain nombre de projets de loi ont été présentés au
Parlement dans le but d’actualiser les dispositions en matiére
de cruauté envers les animaux, qui remontent a la premiére
codification du Code criminel de 1892. Il s’agissait des projets
de loi C-17 en 1999, C-15 et C-15B, C-10 et C-10B, C-22 et
C-50, dont aucun n’a regu la sanction royale. Le dernier projet de
loi issu de la Chambre des communes, le projet de loi C-50, visait
a créer un nouvel article du Code criminel traitant de la cruauté
envers les animaux, et retirant par le fait méme cette question de
l’article du Code criminel traitant des biens.

Pour inaugurer nos travaux sur ce projet de loi, j’ai le grand
plaisir d’accueillir notre collégue, ’honorable sénateur John
Bryden, du Nouveau-Brunswick, qui en est le parrain. Le
sénateur Bryden a participé aux discussions qui se sont
déroulées ces derniéres années sur cette question, en sa qualité
de membre du comité; il exposera le contexte et donnera ’apergu
nécessaire pour entamer notre étude. Les autres témoins sont des
responsables du ministére de la Justice représentés par Donald
Piragoff et Joanne Klineberg.

L’honorable John G. Bryden, parrain du projet de loi : Merci de
me permettre de faire cet exposé. Je signale au préalable que mon
exposé sera principalement axé sur ce projet de loi et sur ses
aspects positifs et, éventuellement, négatifs. Vous traiterez de la
fagon que vous voulez le volet historique de la question. Je
pourrais peut-&tre vous aider a comprendre en répondant a
quelques questions, mais ce n’est pas un projet de loi complexe. I1
s’agit d’une trés humble tentative faite pour progresser dans ce
domaine. Par conséquent, je vous prie de me pardonner si mes
observations sont axées sur le projet de loi comme tel et sur les
changements qu’il apporte.

Honorables sénateurs, le projet de loi S-213 augmente les
peines maximales qu'un tribunal peut imposer actuellement pour
des infractions aux termes des articles 444 a 447 du Code
criminel, portant sur la cruauté envers les animaux. Sinon, ces
articles du Code criminel demeurent inchangés. Les dispositions
de ces articles établissant les infractions demeurent exactement
dans leur état actuel et dans 1’état ou elles se trouvent depuis
plusieurs années, comme I’a d’ailleurs précisé le président.

Dans le Code actuel, toutes les infractions sont punissables sur
déclaration de culpabilité par procédure sommaire, a savoir une
amende maximale de deux mille dollars ou une peine maximale
d’emprisonnement de six mois, a l’exception des poursuites
criminelles pour empoisonnement de bestiaux, qui est passible
d’un emprisonnement maximal de cinq ans.

Dans le projet de loi S-213, toutes les infractions peuvent
étre considérées comme un acte criminel passible d’un
emprisonnement maximal de cinq ans ou comme une infraction
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$10,000 or imprisonment up to 18 months, or both, for most of
the serious offences, and imprisonment for two years or a fine of
$5,000 for one less serious offence dealing with neglect. This
approach has been taken to simplify and to address directly the
legitimate outrage of the public and the press that serious pain
and suffering by animals is currently punishable only by minimal
fines and jail time.

The Senate passed this bill at second reading without a
dissenting vote. The government has stated that it would not be
bringing in a government bill on cruelty to animals but that it
is prepared to support Bill S-213. Many of the significant
stakeholders have stated their support for this bill and are
prepared to appear before you.

Aboriginal rights under section 35 of the Constitution,
protecting traditional hunting, fishing and trapping methods,
are unaffected by this bill. Indeed, Aboriginal members of the
Senate have participated in this bill’s development and are
comfortable with it. I am referring to Senator Watt, Senator Gill,
Senator Adams, Senator Sibbeston and Senator Lovelace
Nicholas. I thank them for their support and assistance.
Senator Watt is here and, I am sure, would be prepared to
respond if anyone wished to question him.

You should also be aware that there is some opposition to
Bill S-213 from some animal rights lobby groups, some humane
societies and some individuals.

Honourable senators, if this bill succeeds, it will resolve the
most serious deficiency in our law for the protection of animals by
providing enforcement officers, prosecutors and the courts with
access to penalties that are substantial deterrents to those who
would cause unnecessary pain or suffering to animals. This bill
does not prevent those who desire the creation of a more
ambitious and comprehensive regime from pursuing their goals
while the animals themselves are being protected under this bill.

That is the end of my statement, but I want to go on and look
at the bill. The notice was short. I do have copies of this summary
statement. It is available and can be distributed. I am a witness
here and not a senator, so it is legitimate for me to provide it just
in English. We can follow it up with a French version afterwards.
That is up to the chair.

The Chairman: The witness said he has a statement in only one
language. It has not been circulated as of yet.

Senator Joyal: I think we should maintain the same rule, if it is
not in both languages. We have heard the presentation and it was
translated, but we should not circulate it.

punissable sur déclaration de culpabilité par procédure sommaire
passible d’'une amende maximale de dix mille dollars ou dun
emprisonnement maximal de dix-huit mois, ou des deux, pour les
infractions les plus graves, et d’'un emprisonnement de deux ans
ou d’une amende de cinq mille dollars pour une infraction de
nature moins grave liée a de la négligence. Cette approche a été
adoptée pour simplifier les choses et répondre de fagon directe a
I'indignation Iégitime du public et de la presse devant le fait qu’a
I’heure actuelle, de grandes douleurs et de grandes souffrances
infligées a des animaux soient passibles d’amendes ou de peines
d’emprisonnement minimales.

Le Sénat a adopté ce projet de loi en deuxiéme lecture sans vote
dissident. Le gouvernement a signalé qu’il ne présenterait pas de
projet de loi d’initiative gouvernementale sur la cruauté envers les
animaux mais qu’il était prét a appuyer le projet de loi S-213. La
plupart des principales parties concernées ont indiqué leur appui
en ce qui concerne ce projet de loi et sont prétes a comparaitre
devant le comité.

Les droits des Autochtones prévus a larticle 35 de la
Constitution, protégeant la chasse, la péche et les méthodes de
piégeage traditionnelles, ne sont pas touchés par ce projet de loi.
En fait, les membres autochtones du Sénat ont participé a
I’élaboration de ce projet de loi et ils le trouvent acceptable. I1
s’agit du sénateur Watt, du sénateur Gill, du sénateur Adams, du
sénateur Sibbeston et du sénateur Lovelace Nicholas. Je les
remercie pour leur appui et pour leur aide. Le sénateur Watt est
ici et je suis certain qu’il serait disposé a répondre aux questions
qu’on voudrait lui poser.

Je signale par ailleurs que le projet de loi S-213 fait I’objet
d’une certaine opposition de la part de groupes d’activistes pour
la défense des animaux, de sociétés protectrices des animaux et de
quelques autres personnes.

Honorables sénateurs, si ce projet de loi est adopté, il comblera
la plus grave lacune de nos dispositions législatives en faveur de la
protection des animaux en donnant aux agents d’application de la
loi, aux procureurs et aux tribunaux accés a des peines qui
seraient des facteurs dissuasifs importants pour les personnes
susceptibles de causer des douleurs ou des souffrances sans
nécessité a des animaux. Ce projet de loi n’empéchera pas les
personnes qui souhaitent la mise en place d'un régime plus
ambitieux et plus exhaustif de poursuivre leurs objectifs tout en
protégeant les animaux.

Cest la fin de mon exposé, mais je voudrais continuer a
examiner le projet de loi. L’avis a été court. J’ai des exemplaires de
cet exposé sommaire. IlIs peuvent étre distribués. Je suis ici en
qualité de témoin et pas de sénateur et, par conséquent, j’ai le
droit de le remettre uniquement en version anglaise. Nous
pourrons en faire faire une version frangaise plus tard. La
décision appartient au président.

Le président : Le témoin a dit que I’exposé est unilingue. Il n’a
pas encore été distribué.

Le sénateur Joyal : J’estime qu’il faut maintenir la méme reégle,
s’il n’est pas dans les deux langues officielles. Nous avons entendu
I’exposé et son interprétation, mais il ne faudrait pas distribuer le
texte.
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Senator Bryden: That is fine. That is why I asked the question.

Senator Andreychuk: I understood any witness could come
before us, make their presentations and file papers, as they
wished. The papers would then be translated for circulation. They
can be filed.

The Chairman: His request was that it be circulated now in one
language.

Senator Bryden: I raised it because I thought it might be
convenient. I am fine with it as it is translated. It is a voice-based
presentation.

Senator Stratton: Senator Joyal, I agree with you. When we
were hearing Bill C-2, we had presentations that were given in one
language, filed in one language and distributed in one language.
There is flexibility.

Senator Joyal: I do not want to contradict you, Senator
Stratton, but when the chair contacted me and asked me if |
agreed that documentation be circulated in one language, I said it
should be circulated in two languages. When there is translation
available, it would be accessible to everybody. That does not
prevent the witness from testifying on the basis of the text that
they have because, as you said and as the witness said, the
translation is provided to every member of the committee and
they hear it in his or her language of choice.

Senator Stratton: I am not disagreeing. I am simply saying that
recent history has shown otherwise.

Senator Joyal: I think it is an exception that should be looked at.

Senator Bryden: With my senator’s hat on, I am perfectly
happy to concur with that. I just wanted to put it forward in the
event that it would be a convenience.

The Chairman: Senator Bryden, you have the floor.

Senator Bryden: Thank you. I would like you to have a quick
look at the bill. Please look at the explanatory notes on the last
page. This is the Criminal Code as it exists today.

You will see that except for the first clause, which deals with
offences against cattle, which are indictable for five years, as |
mentioned earlier, each of these clauses contains an offence
punishable on summary conviction only.

The clauses in Bill S-213 cover exactly the offences stated here.
I asked the drafters to include this so that it would be readily
available, if anyone wanted to check, to say whether or not there
is a match between the offences here and the ones I am talking
about. You will find they do match.

Bill S-213 looks so much bigger because, while every offence in
the existing code was always treated as summary conviction, with
the exception of one, we decided to make hybrid offences and so
we had to create an option. Everyone who commits an offence

Le sénateur Bryden : C’est bien. C’est pourquoi j’ai posé la
question.

Le sénateur Andreychuk : Je pensais que tout témoin pouvait se
présenter devant nous, faire son exposé et déposer des documents,
comme il I’entendait, et que les documents seraient ensuite
traduits pour étre distribués. Ils peuvent étre déposés.

Le président: Il a demandé qu’ils soient distribués
immédiatement dans une seule langue.

Le sénateur Bryden : J’ai fait cette suggestion parce que je
pensais que ce serait commode. L’interprétation me convient.
C’est un exposé verbal.

Le sénateur Stratton: Je suis d’accord avec ce que vous
dites, sénateur Joyal. Au cours des audiences sur le projet
de loi C-2, nous avons entendu des exposés qui ont été faits,
déposés et distribués dans une seule langue. On a une certaine
latitude.

Le sénateur Joyal : Je ne voudrais pas vous contredire, sénateur
Stratton, mais lorsque le président m’a demandé si j’acceptais que
la documentation soit distribuée dans une seule langue, j’ai dit
quelle devait étre distribuée dans les deux langues. Quand une
traduction est disponible, elle est accessible a tous. Cela
n’empéche pas le témoin de faire son exposé en se basant sur le
texte qu’il a car, comme vous I’avez signalé, et comme le témoin
I’a signalé également, l'interprétation est accessible a tous les
membres du comité qui veulent I'utiliser et ils peuvent écouter
I’exposé dans la langue de leur choix.

Le sénateur Stratton : Je ne suis pas en désaccord avec vous. Je
signale simplement que ce n’est pas confirmé par les événements
récents.

Le sénateur Joyal : C’est une exception qu’il faudrait examiner.

Le sénateur Bryden : En ma qualité de sénateur, c’est avec
plaisir que j’accepte. Je voulais seulement faire cette suggestion au
cas ou ce serait commode.

Le président : Vous avez la parole, sénateur Bryden.

Le sénateur Bryden : Merci. J’aimerais que vous jetiez un
rapide coup d’ceil sur le projet de loi. Veuillez examiner mes notes
explicatives a la derniére page. Il s’agit des articles du Code
criminel tel qu’ils se présentent actuellement.

Vous verrez qu’a ’exception du premier article, qui porte sur
les infractions concernant les bestiaux — infractions qui, comme
je I'ai déja signalé, sont passibles d’une peine de cinq ans — ces
différents articles prévoient une infraction punissable sur
déclaration de culpabilité par procédure sommaire uniquement.

Les articles du projet de loi S-213 concernent exactement les
mémes infractions. J’ai demandé aux rédacteurs d’ajouter ces
notes pour que ceux qui voudraient vérifier si les infractions
prévues dans le projet de loi et celles dont je parle concordent y
aient facilement accés. Vous constaterez qu’elles concordent.

Le projet de loi S-213 semble beaucoup plus long parce que,
alors que toute infraction prévue actuellement au Code a toujours
été traitée sur déclaration de culpabilité par procédure sommaire,
a l’exception d’une seule, nous avons décidé de prévoir des
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under clause 1 is guilty of an indictable offence under («), and
the terms are there, and an offence punishable on summary
conviction and liable to a fine not exceeding $10,000. In other
words, under each one of the offences that have been created, the
penalties that can be imposed are listed. As a result, there are four
areas.

The Chairman: Some clauses of your bill have two dark lines by
them, such as subclause 1(2). Could you tell us what those are?

Senator Bryden: Those are the additional clauses. In every case,
except the transfer of one clause to a place where an indictable
offence needed to be added to it, those relate to the changes in the
penalties. The lines are indicate the additions.

In a couple of instances, there is a minimum reorganization,
because some of the provisions in the existing code do not get
changed but, because of the hybrid offence, they fit better in
another place. There will be a mark where that has occurred.

However, we were very careful. The law clerks branch was
extremely careful in examining the bill to ensure that none of the
offences described in this bill are new or changed from what exists
in the Criminal Code. The appropriate offences have been added.

Every offence in the existing code is in Bill S-213 and no new
or amended offences are included in Bill S-213. It is hard to
cross-reference unless you actually sit down and do the numbers,
but if you do the numbers, you will find that that statement is
exactly correct.

I would like to point out that the punishments for the offences
in Bill S-213 are those that were acceptable to all parties during
the last attempts by government to amend these Criminal Code
sections.

The Chairman: Who were the stakeholders? What parties were
agreeable?

Senator Bryden: When the bill came into the Senate, it had
gone through any number of stakeholders. There were long
hearings, and we can call those up. There were the animal rights
lobbyists, the humane society, the cattlemen’s association, the
Ontario anglers’ and hunters’ association, the associations dealing
with the use of laboratory animals. Everybody participated in
those discussions.

I believe I am absolutely correct that in the end we did agree on
what the penalties should be. We did have difficulty with what the
implications of some of the wording might for the breadth of the
decisions and so on. However, the penalties in this bill are the

infractions mixtes et nous avons dd prévoir une option.
Quiconque commet une infraction au sens de I’article 1 est
coupable d’'un acte criminel au sens de I’alinéa a), et la durée est
précisée, et quiconque commet une infraction punissable sur
déclaration de culpabilité par procédure sommaire est passible
d’une amende maximale de dix mille dollars. En d’autres termes,
pour chacune des infractions établies, les peines peuvent étre
imposées telles qu’elles sont énoncées. Il y a donc quatre
domaines.

Le président : Certaines dispositions de votre projet de loi sont
entourées de deux lignes noires, comme le paragraphe 1(2). Quelle
en est la raison?

Le sénateur Bryden : Ce sont les dispositions supplémentaires.
Dans tous les cas, sauf en ce qui concerne le transfert d’un article
a un endroit ou il fallait y ajouter I’acte criminel, elles concernent
les changements au niveau des peines. Ces lignes indiquent donc
les ajouts.

Dans deux ou trois cas, la réorganisation est minimale, car
certaines des dispositions du Code ne sont pas modifiées, mais a
cause de l'infraction mixte, elles ont davantage leur place a un
autre endroit. Elles seront accompagnées d’une marque dans ces
cas-la.

Nous avons toutefois pris beaucoup de précautions. La
direction des auxiliaires juridiques a fait preuve d’une extréme
prudence en examinant le projet de loi pour s’assurer qu’aucune
des infractions qui y sont mentionnées ne soit d’un type nouveau
ou différent de ce qui est déja prévu au Code criminel. Les
infractions appropriées ont été ajoutées.

Toutes les infractions prévues au Code se trouvent dans le
projet de loi S-213 et aucune infraction nouvelle ou modifiée
n’y a été ajoutée. La correspondance est difficile a établir, mais
lorsqu’on prend le temps de vérifier, et seulement alors, on
constate que I’énoncé est parfaitement exact.

Je signale que les peines pour les infractions prévues dans le
projet de loi S-213 sont celles qui ont été jugées acceptables par
toutes les parties au cours des derniéres tentatives faites par le
gouvernement pour modifier les articles corrélatifs du Code
criminel.

Le président : Quelles étaient les parties prenantes? Quelles
parties étaient consentantes?

Le sénateur Bryden : Lorsque le projet de loi a été présenté au
Sénat, il avait déja été présenté a plusieurs des parties concernées.
De longues audiences ont été tenues et nous pouvons appeler
toutes ces parties. Il y avait les groupes de défense des animaux, la
société protectrice des animaux, l’association des éleveurs de
bétail, I’'association des pécheurs et des chasseurs de 1’Ontario, les
associations concernant I’utilisation des animaux de laboratoire.
Tous les intervenants ont participé a ces discussions.

Je pense qu’il est parfaitement exact de dire qu’en fin de
compte, nous nous sommes entendus sur la nature des peines.
Nous avons eu des difficultés avec les conséquences éventuelles de
certains termes utilisés en ce qui concerne la portée des décisions,
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ones that were contained in the last draft of Bill C-50. That is
where they came from and they are matched up.

The Chairman: Earlier in your testimony you said that there is
some opposition to this bill from the humane societies, animal
rights groups and others. Is that opposition in relation to
penalties?

Senator Bryden: I do not know. I cannot answer that. My
statement was based on the fact that I have been contacted by
people who indicate that they oppose the bill. All kinds of people
support this position and this bill, but, in fairness, I am aware that
others do not. They will have to appear and explain why they do
not. I can only defend my own bill.

Senator Joyal: Senator Bryden, thank you for your
presentation. As I understand it, there is one slight difference in
your bill from the existing sections 444 to 447 of the Criminal
Code. You said that in the existing code all offences are
punishable only on summary conviction. In your bill every
offence can be treated as either an indictable offence or as a
summary conviction. Is that correct?

Senator Bryden: That is correct.

Senator Joyal: Was that distinction included in Bill C-50,
which we have studied before?

Senator Bryden: Yes.

Senator Joyal: Were the levels of penalties exactly the same as
contained in Bill C-50?

Senator Bryden: That is correct.

Senator Joyal: As far as you can remember, when that bill and
the previous incarnation of that bill were introduced in the
Parliament of Canada, was anyone opposed in principle to the
creation of a hybrid offence, which the bill proposed? That is the
first question. Second, were representations on the level of penalty
included in Bill C-50?

Senator Bryden: As I recall, there was no objection to bringing
in the hybrid offences, because they give more flexibility and a
greater range of options. To the best of my knowledge, everyone
supported that.

I believe I remember that at an earlier stage some groups or
persons preferred a higher penalty than five years. They might
have wanted 10 years. I was going to say that some would have
gone for life, if they could; they wanted greater penalties.

par exemple. Cependant, les peines prévues dans ce projet de loi
sont celles qui étaient déja prévues dans la derniére ébauche du
projet de loi C-50. C’est de la qu’elles viennent, et elles sont
comparables.

Le président : Vous avez signalé tout a I’heure que ce projet de
loi faisait I’objet d’une certaine opposition de la part des sociétés
protectrices des animaux, de certains groupes de défense des
animaux et de diverses autres organisations. Est-ce que cette
opposition concerne les peines?

Le sénateur Bryden : Je ne sais pas. Je m’étais basé sur le fait
que j’avais communiqué avec des personnes qui avaient manifesté
leur opposition au projet de loi. De nombreuses personnes
appuient notre position et ce projet loi mais, en toute justice, je
sais que d’autres personnes s’y opposent. Il faudrait qu’elles
témoignent et qu’elles expliquent les motifs de cette opposition. Je
ne peux que défendre mon projet de loi.

Le sénateur Joyal : Merci pour votre exposé, sénateur Bryden.
Si j’ai bien compris, il n’y a qu’une légere différence dans votre
projet de loi avec les dispositions actuelles des articles 444 a
447 du Code criminel. Vous avez signalé que dans les dispositions
actuelles du Code, toutes les infractions sont punissables sur
déclaration de culpabilité par procédure sommaire. Dans votre
projet de loi, toutes les infractions peuvent étre traitées comme un
acte criminel ou comme une infraction punissable sur déclaration
de culpabilité par procédure sommaire. Est-ce exact?

Le sénateur Bryden : Oui.

Le sénateur Joyal : Cette distinction était-elle incluse dans le
projet de loi C-50 que nous avons déja examiné?

Le sénateur Bryden : Oui.

Le sénateur Joyal : Le niveau des peines était-il exactement le
méme que dans le projet de loi C-50?

Le sénateur Bryden : Tout a fait.

Le sénateur Joyal : Autant que vous vous souveniez, quand le
projet de loi et son incarnation précédente ont été présentés au
Parlement du Canada, quelqu’un s’opposait-il au principe de la
création d’une infraction mixte, tel que le proposait le projet de
loi? C’est la premiére question. Ensuite, a-t-on fait des instances
au sujet du niveau des peines prévues dans le projet de loi C-50?

Le sénateur Bryden : Autant que je me souvienne, il n’y a pas
eu d’opposition a 'introduction des infractions mixtes, car elles
laissent une plus grande marge de manceuvre et offrent une plus
grande gamme d’options. Tout le monde appuyait ce principe, a
ce que je sache.

Je crois me souvenir qu’a une étape antérieure, plusieurs
groupes ou personnes préféraient une peine plus lourde que celle
de cinq ans. Elles auraient voulu qu’elle soit de dix ans. J’allais
dire que certaines personnes auraient souhaité que ce soit une
peine d’emprisonnement a vie, si cela avait été possible; elles
voulaient des peines plus lourdes.
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I believe that as we got to the end people put a little water in
their wine. Others who were not so concerned about having the
high penalties upped theirs, and the result was the numbers that
we have.

Senator Joyal: What are the comparable offences in the
Criminal Code that are at the level of the penalty that you
propose and that were in Bill C-50 before?

There are scales of offences in the Criminal Code that
command a certain type of penalty. Can you inform us of other
offences in the present Criminal Code that would command a
similar kind of penalty, which would either be hybrid or
summary?

Senator Bryden: I cannot do that specifically because I was not
prepared to deal with that. However, I do remember that in the
process of determining what would be an appropriate penalty
those issues were canvassed. What the top and the bottom of the
range would be for other types of offences, I cannot definitively
say today.

Senator Joyal: Maybe we can ask the question of the witnesses
from the Department of Justice.

Senator Andreychuk: How did you come to the reasonableness
of these fines? Some people say we do not treat the issue seriously
enough; others do a comparison, as I think Senator Joyal was.
What was your rationale for picking the figures you used?

The Chairman: Picking five years rather than eight years or
10 years?

Senator Bryden: My rationale — and this is somewhat of a
copout — is that it had been discussed very thoroughly during the
various attempts to amend the code. When we got to Bill C-50 —
and even, I believe, the one just before that — there was a sense of
resignation around the table, from exhaustion or whatever, and
everyone basically said that these levels of offences are
satisfactory.

The only thing I am doing with this bill is increasing the
penalties. I took the penalties that were the results of seven years
of debate and were attached to Bill C-50.

The Chairman: Did you look at other jurisdictions?

Senator Bryden: Not in doing this, but when we were —

The Chairman: I mean for the increased penalties. Did you
compare them with other jurisdictions?

Je pense qu’a mesure que la fin des discussions approchait, les
parties ont mis un peu d’eau dans leur vin. Certaines personnes,
qui ne voulaient pas particuliérement adopter les peines trés
lourdes, ont augmenté celles qu’elles proposaient et les chiffres
actuels sont le résultat de ces discussions.

Le sénateur Joyal : Quelles sont les infractions comparables du
Code criminel qui sont au méme niveau que les peines que vous
proposez dans ce projet de loi et qui étaient prévues dans le projet
de loi C-50?

Le Code criminel établit des échelles d’infractions qui exigent
un certain type de peine. Pouvez-vous indiquer d’autres
infractions prévues actuellement au Code criminel qui
exigeraient un type de peine semblable, qui seraient une
infraction mixte ou une infraction punissable sur déclaration de
culpabilité par procédure sommaire?

Le sénateur Bryden : Je ne peux pas répondre avec précision
parce que je n’étais pas préparé a une telle question. Cependant, je
me souviens que ces questions ont été examinées quand il
s’agissait de déterminer quelle peine serait appropriée. Je ne
peux en tout cas pas dire aujourd’hui quel était le maximum et le
minimum pour d’autres types d’infractions.

Le sénateur Joyal : Nous pouvons peut-étre poser la question
aux représentants du ministére de la Justice.

Le sénateur Andreychuk : Comment en étes-vous venu a la
conclusion que ces amendes étaient raisonnables? Certaines
personnes estiment que nous ne prenons pas la question
suffisamment au sérieux; d’autres font une comparaison, comme
I’a fait sans doute le sénateur Joyal. Quelles sont les raisons pour
lesquelles vous avez choisi ces chiffres?

Le président : Quelles sont les raisons pour lesquelles vous avez
choisi cinq ans plutét que huit ans ou dix ans?

Le sénateur Bryden : Le raisonnement que j’ai suivi — et c’est
en quelque sorte une fagon de se défiler — est qu’on avait discuté
a fond de la question au cours des diverses tentatives qui avaient
été faites pour modifier le Code. Lorsque nous avons examiné le
projet de loi C-50 — et méme celui qui I’a précédé, je crois —, un
sentiment de résignation régnait autour de la table, ou peut-étre
était-ce de I’épuisement, ou autre chose, et tous les participants
ont dit essenticllement que ces niveaux d’infractions étaient
satisfaisants.

Le seul changement que j’apporte, par le biais de ce projet de
loi, c’est une augmentation des peines. Je me suis basé sur les
peines qui avaient été choisies a l'issue de sept années de
discussions et qui étaient déja prévues dans le projet de loi C-50.

Le président : Avez-vous examiné ce qui s’est fait dans d’autres
pays?

Le sénateur Bryden : Pas au cours de ce processus-ci, mais
lorsque nous étions...

Le président : Je veux dire en ce qui concerne les peines accrues.
Les avez-vous comparées aux peines imposées dans d’autres pays?
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Senator Bryden: Yes, that was done in the history this work in
the last seven years. The penalties that would be appropriate in
other jurisdictions were looked at.

However, for this small bill, I simply made the assumption that
that ground has been covered and ploughed over and over and
that the numbers and the seriousness of the penalties that were
found in Bill C-50 were the best consensus at that time. I did not
think I was in a position to suggest something different.

I do not know what else I can tell you. It had been debated
many times and people here know that, I think.

Senator Nolin: I was there, as were most of us. Would you say
that the penalties were never the centre of our problem when we
were looking at all the various incarnations and variations of
those bills? We all agreed on increasing the penalties. There were
disagreements, but at the end of the day we agreed on what is in
front of us.

Senator Bryden: Yes.

Senator Nolin: It is a no-brainer. That was not our concern. We
had many problems with the way new infractions were written.
We did not have a problem with the intent, but we had a lot of
problems with the consequences of what —

Senator Joyal: It would be fair to state, and Senator Nolin and
Senator Andreychuk will remember this, that nobody requested
us to reduce the proposed penalty. That was for sure. No
witnesses or written representations stated that the penalties
proposed in the original Bill C-50 were too high.

As you know, in the Criminal Code there is a rationale for the
level of penalty. That was the reason for my question to Senator
Bryden, so that we will be reminded of the rationale for the
choices made originally by the Department of Justice, because
essentially what you propose in this bill is what the department
had been proposing.

Senator Andreychuk: Others wanted higher penalties. I do not
recall whether we heard that by correspondence or in testimony
here. However, it was certainly not lower.

Senator Joyal: There is no doubt; I wanted to establish that.
We are not looking for something lower than what is proposed
here.

If T remember, some groups made the point about higher
penalties. However, on the whole they were satisfied with the
other aspects of the bill and were ready to compromise on the
level of penalty. It happened some time ago.

Clause 2 of Bill S-213 states that the provisions of the bill will
come into force on a day or days to be fixed by order of the
Governor-in-Council. Do you think it is appropriate to put that

Le sénateur Bryden : Oui, cela a été fait dans le contexte de
I’examen historique portant sur les sept derniéres années. Les
peines jugées appropriées dans d’autres pays ont été examinées.

Cependant, en ce qui concerne ce petit projet de loi, je me suis
uniquement fondé sur le principe que la question avait déja été
examinée a fond et que les chiffres et la sévérité des peines prévus
dans le projet de loi C-50 étaient le fruit du meilleur consensus,
alors. Je n’estimais pas étre en mesure de suggérer des chiffres
différents.

Je ne sais pas quel commentaire supplémentaire je pourrais
faire. La question a été débattue a de nombreuses reprises, et les
membres de I’assistance le savent probablement.

Le sénateur Nolin : J’étais la, comme la plupart d’entre nous.
Estimez-vous que les peines n’ont jamais été le centre du probléme
qui se posait lorsque nous examinions toutes les diverses
incarnations du projet de loi? Nous nous entendions tous sur le
fait qu’il fallait augmenter les peines. Il y avait certaines
divergences d’opinions mais, en fin de compte, nous étions en
accord sur les peines que nous examinons présentement.

Le sénateur Bryden : Oui.

Le sénateur Nolin : Cela s’est fait sans effort. Ce n’était pas
notre préoccupation. Nous avions de nombreuses difficultés en ce
qui concerne le libellé relatif aux nouvelles infractions. Nous
n’avions pas de difficulté sur le principe, mais nous en avions
beaucoup en ce qui concerne les conséquences de ce que...

Le sénateur Joyal : Il serait juste de signaler, et les sénateurs
Nolin et Andreychuk s’en souviennent, que personne ne nous
avait demandé de réduire les peines proposées. C’est une
certitude. Aucun témoin ou mémoire écrit n’indiquait
que les peines proposées dans la version initiale du projet
de loi C-50 étaient trop lourdes.

Comme vous le savez, dans le Code criminel, le niveau de peine
est justifié. C’est la raison pour laquelle j’ai posé la question au
sénateur Bryden, afin qu’on nous rappelle les raisons des choix
qui ont été faits initialement par le ministére de la Justice, car les
peines proposées dans ce projet de loi sont essentiellement celles
qui étaient proposées par le ministere.

Le sénateur Andreychuk : D’autres personnes voulaient
des peines plus lourdes. Je ne sais plus s’il s’agissait de
correspondance ou si c’était dans les témoignages. On ne
réclamait toutefois certainement pas de peines moins lourdes.

Le sénateur Joyal : Cela ne fait aucun doute; je voulais que ce
soit établi. Nous ne cherchons pas des peines moins lourdes que
celles qui sont proposées dans ce projet de loi.

Si j’ai bonne mémoire, certains groupes ont réclamé des peines
plus lourdes. Cependant, d’une maniére générale, les intervenants
étaient satisfaits des autres aspects du projet de loi et étaient préts
a faire un compromis en ce qui concerne le niveau des peines. Ca
remonte déja a un certain temps.

L’article 2 du projet de loi S-213 précise que les dispositions du
projet de loi entreront en vigueur a la date ou aux dates fixées par
décret. Pensez-vous qu’il est approprié de mettre une telle
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in the bill? If we are to replace the present section of the Criminal
Code with the level of penalty that you are proposing, I do not see
why we should delay the coming into force of this bill.

I understand that with some bills the system has to adjust.
There has to be time, for instance, to train the prosecutor, to
publish additional information, to make the system aware
of the changes and so forth. Then, of course, that leaves the
Governor-in-Council the time frame to proclaim the legislation
on the basis of the adjustments that need to be made in the
system.

However, I do not see the need to delay the coming into force
of this bill, because the substance and the purpose of it is to
increase the penalties.

Senator Bryden: Senator Joyal, it is interesting that you would
raise that. When this bill was being drafted, I was engaged in
making sure that the penalties fitted the sections and that all the
cross references had been done. I really did not pay a great deal of
attention to the fact that there was a proclamation there.

As I got ready for the presentation of Bill S-24, a bill identical
to this under the previous government, I realized that it
was not only unnecessary but also perhaps presumptuous of
me, presenting a private member’s bill that will ultimately
have to go to the House of Commons and be considered
by the government over there, to say in my bill that the
Governor-in-Council has an obligation to do something. That is
better decided by the government itself.

I think we should consider a simple amendment that would just
delete clause 2 so that the bill would come into force upon Royal
Assent, which is what normally happens. I have searched my
mind and I have talked to other people and there is nothing in this
bill that will require a time delay. There is no money to be spent,
no new judges to be hired. It simply does what Senator Joyal has
indicated: it updates penalties. An email to the courts and the
prosecutors will cover that off as well as the Canada Gazette when
it happens. I would certainly agree to taking that out and if for
some reason the Governor-in-Council needs to do that, they will
have an opportunity to deal with that when it goes before the
Commons committee.

Senator Joyal: May I come back at the same issue in another
way? I do not have the original Bill C-50 in front of me, but do
you remember whether there was such a coming into force
provision in relation to the penalty or to other sections of the bill?

Senator Bryden: I do not remember but I do have
Bill C-50 with me and I will look.

Senator Joyal: I can understand that for Bill C-50 some parts
might have been proclaimed at a later date because there was
substantial change.

disposition dans le projet de 1oi? Si nous voulons remplacer le
présent article du Code criminel par un article instaurant
seulement le niveau de peine que vous proposez, je ne vois pas
pourquoi on retarderait ’entrée en vigueur du projet de loi.

Je comprends que, en ce qui concerne certains projets de loi, il
faut que le systéeme s’adapte. Il faut un certain temps, par
exemple, pour former le procureur, pour publier des
renseignements supplémentaires, et pour sensibiliser le systeme
aux changements. Alors, cela laisse, bien entendu, au gouverneur
en conseil le temps nécessaire pour promulguer la loi en tenant
compte des ajustements qui doivent étre faits dans le systéme.

Je ne vois toutefois pas la nécessité de retarder I’entrée en
vigueur de ce projet de loi étant donné que son fond et son objet
sont 'augmentation des peines.

Le sénateur Bryden : Sénateur Joyal, je trouve intéressant que
vous souleviez la question. Lorsque ce projet de loi a été rédigé, je
voulais m’assurer que les peines correspondaient aux articles et
que toutes les concordances avaient été faites. Je n’ai pas fait
particuliérement attention a la disposition d’entrée en vigueur.

En préparant mon exposé sur le projet de loi S-24, un projet de
loi identique a celui-ci qui avait été présenté sous le gouvernement
précédent, je me suis rendu compte qu’il était non seulement
inutile, mais aussi peut-étre présomptucux de ma part, étant
donné que je présentais un projet de loi d’initiative parlementaire
qui devait étre renvoyé a la Chambre des communes pour y étre
examiné par le gouvernement, d’indiquer dans mon projet de loi
que le gouverneur en conseil avait I'obligation de faire quelque
chose. Il est préférable que le gouvernement prenne la décision
lui-méme.

Je pense que j’envisagerais un amendement tout simple
consistant a supprimer I’article 2 pour que le projet de loi entre
en vigueur a compter de la date ou il recevra la sanction royale, ce
qui est la fagon de procéder normale. Jy ai réfléchi et j’en ai parlé
a d’autres personnes pour en arriver a la conclusion qu’aucune
disposition de ce projet de loi ne nécessitait un délai. Il
n’entrainera aucune dépense et il n’y aura pas de nouveaux
juges a engager. Comme 1’a signalé le sénateur Joyal, il ne fait
qu’actualiser les peines. Il suffira d’envoyer un courriel aux
tribunaux et aux procureurs et de I'annoncer dans la Gazette du
Canada. J’accepterais volontiers de biffer cet article et si, pour une
raison quelconque, le gouverneur en conseil est obligé de faire
quelque chose, il en aura 'occasion lorsque le projet de loi sera
renvoyé a la Chambre des communes.

Le sénateur Joyal : J’aimerais revenir a la méme question sous
un autre angle. Je n’ai pas le projet de loi C-50 sous les yeux, mais
vous rappelez-vous s’il contenait une disposition d’entrée en
vigueur semblable a celle-ci en ce qui concerne les peines ou
d’autres dispositions?

Le sénateur Bryden : Je ne m’en souviens pas, mais j’ai un
exemplaire du projet de loi C-50 et je vérifierai.

Le sénateur Joyal : Je pourrais comprendre qu’en ce qui
concerne le projet de loi C-50, certaines parties seraient peut-étre
entrées en vigueur a une date ultérieure parce qu’il s’agissait de
changements substantiels.
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The Chairman: Senator Bryden found it. The wording is
identical in Bill C-50.

Senator Bryden: That is probably why that provision is in my
bill; it would have been taken from Bill C-50. That provision
makes sense in Bill C-50 because there are many substantive
changes.

Senator Joyal: Yes. Many fundamental changes to the
Criminal Code proposed in Bill C-50 are not included in this
bill. I did not see at first if there would be a need to delay the
proclamation of this bill.

Senator Milne: Senator Bryden, it may well bear repeating that
this bill does nothing but increase the penalties. It stays
completely away from all the clauses of the many predecessor
bills that this committee went through over and over again and
had such enormous problems with.

I believe Bill C-50 included a non-derogation clause and you
have not put one into this bill. This may be a question that
Senator Watt can answer. Are you concerned that the bill will, in
any way, restrict the right of Aboriginal persons to hunt and fish
as they have always done?

Senator Bryden: No, I am not, and I would like Senator Watt
to speak to it after.

Nothing changes for hunters and fishermen or people who
interact with animals. The code that the hunters and fishers and
Aboriginals have been working with since 1852 — I believe that is
the date you gave — is still in place. Section 35, which protects the
Aboriginals’ traditional methods of hunting, fishing and trapping,
will continue to function just as it does today. We actually
developed an amendment to make sure that it was in the bill that
section 35 would be respected. Bill C-50 was much bigger than
the scope of the animal cruelty sections of the Criminal Code
now.

I was hoping not to get into this but the definition of “animal”
added hundreds of thousands of millions of animals to the scope
of the Criminal Code. The definition is any vertebrate other than
a human being.

Senator Nolin: We do not want to go back to that.

Senator Bryden: The short answer to your question is that this
bill does not, in any way, impair Aboriginals’ rights under
section 35 of the Constitution. I would ask Senator Watt to
comment.

The Chairman: Why not put the non-derogation clause in as
additional protection?

Senator Bryden: There are two reasons. The Constitution
overrides it anyway, and that is what is being lived by now. If we
put that clause in, somebody will ask why it is there now, when we
did not need it before.

Le président : Le sénateur Bryden a trouvé cette disposition. Le
libellé est identique dans le projet de loi C-50.

Le sénateur Bryden: C’est probablement la raison pour
laquelle cette disposition se trouve dans mon projet de loi; elle a
été prélevée sur le projet de loi C-50. Elle se justifiait dans le
projet de loi C-50 car il proposait de nombreux changements
substantiels.

Le sénateur Joyal : Oui. De nombreuses modifications
fondamentales au Code criminel proposées dans le projet de
loi C-50 ne sont pas incluses dans le présent projet de loi. Je
n’avais pas remarqué tout de suite s’il serait nécessaire de retarder
la promulgation de cette loi.

Le sénateur Milne : Sénateur Bryden, il vaut peut-étre la peine
de répéter que ce projet de loi augmente uniquement les peines,
mais rien d’autre. Il n’a repris aucun des articles de ses nombreux
prédécesseurs que le comité a examinés longuement et qui
posaient tant de problémes.

Je pense que le projet de loi C-50 incluait une disposition non
dérogatoire alors que celui-ci n’en contient pas. C’est peut-étre
une question a laquelle le sénateur Watt peut répondre.
Craignez-vous que ce projet de loi ne restreigne de quelque
fagon que ce soit le droit des Autochtones de chasser et de pécher
comme ils ’ont toujours fait?

Le sénateur Bryden : Non, mais j’aimerais que le sénateur Watt
fasse des commentaires lorsque j’aurai fini.

Rien ne change pour les chasseurs et les pécheurs, ni pour les
personnes qui interagissent avec les animaux. Le code sur lequel se
basent les chasseurs et les pécheurs, et les Autochtones,
depuis 1852 — je pense que c’est la date que vous avez
mentionnée — est toujours en place. L’article 35, qui protége
les méthodes de chasse, de péche et de piégeage traditionnelles
des Autochtones, restera applicable de la méme fagon
qu’actuellement. Nous avons en fait élaboré un amendement
pour nous assurer qu’il serait précisé dans le projet de loi que
larticle 35 serait respecté. Le projet de loi C-50 dépassait
largement la portée des articles du Code criminel concernant la
cruauté envers les animaux.

J’espérais ne pas devoir aborder le sujet, mais la définition de
« animal » a ajouté des centaines de milliers ou de millions
d’animaux au champ d’application du Code criminel. La
définition indique qu’il s’agit de tout vertébré autre qu’un étre
humain.

Le sénateur Nolin : Nous ne voulons pas revenir la-dessus.

Le sénateur Bryden : La réponse bréve a votre question est que
ce projet de loi n’empiéte nullement sur les droits des Autochtones
protégés par larticle 35 de la Constitution. Je demande au
sénateur Watt de faire des commentaires.

Le président : Pourquoi ne pas insérer la disposition non
dérogatoire comme mesure de protection supplémentaire?

Le sénateur Bryden : Il y a deux raisons a cela. La Constitution
annule de toute fagon son effet, et c’est le cas actuellement. Si
nous insérons cette disposition, quelqu’un demandera pourquoi
elle est 1a maintenant alors qu’elle n’était pas nécessaire avant.
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I am hesitant to disturb the bill as it is and the support for this
bill as it is drafted. It is supported by the Aboriginals, by many of
the stakeholders and by the government. There is no indication
that if we start amending this bill it will continue to have the same
support that it has now.

We also learned, from the series of bills that came before us
over the last seven years, that if one amendment is good, 15 are
probably better. However, an amendment is not absolutely
necessary here.

Senator Watt: I participated in the original bill, Bill C-50, and
as you all know, we had a great deal of difficulty with that.
I participated also on the formulation of this new bill that
Senator Bryden has brought forward.

I do not see any need for a non-derogation clause at this
particular time. I am afraid that if we put it in there for further
clarity, we might raise some questions. Let us not put something
in there that is not really required at this point. That is all I can
say. I am confident that we do not need that. I am not a lawyer,
but if you think further clarity is needed, that is your business. My
opinion is that you do not need that.

Senator Milne: This bill does not prevent the government, or
any government in the future, from bringing in a further animal
rights bill if they so desire.

Senator Bryden: This bill deals with a situation that exists right
now. When the next bill is put together, it will take time to
canvass opinions and do careful research. In the meantime, this
will make significant penalties available to the courts as a
deterrent. Believe me, it is the lack of a deterrent and the damage
and the suffering of the animals that the public is demanding be
fixed. Since we can fix that, let us fix it now. If in six months there
is a much better regime, so much the better, but if it is six years
from now, which happened the last time, at least we will have had
this protection for the courts to use.

Senator Nolin: Senator Bryden, I understand, and we all would
agree, that we are not seeking perfection. We are trying to
accomplish something quickly. Everyone agrees, I am sure, after
these seven long years of discussions on this.

I want to go back to an answer you provided to Senator Milne
to ensure that we give you a fair reading of the bill. The proposed
new section 447.1(1) creates new powers for the courts. Perhaps
you should expand on that.

Senator Bryden: This does stand out but it is also available
under the existing Criminal Code. The difference between this and
Bill C-50 is that the time limit for the prohibition of owning an

Jhésite a toucher au projet de loi tel qu’il se présente et a
compromettre I’appui dont il bénéficie sous son libellé actuel. Il a
I’appui des Autochtones, de nombreuses parties concernées et du
gouvernement. Rien n’indique que si nous nous mettons a
modifier ce projet de loi, il conservera 'appui qu’il a actuellement.

Nous avons en outre appris, avec la série de projets de loi qui
ont été présentés au cours des sept derniéres années, que si un
amendement est bon, il y en a probablement 15 meilleurs.
Cependant, un amendement n’est pas absolument nécessaire en
I’occurrence.

Le sénateur Watt : J’ai participé au projet de loi initial, le projet
de loi C-50 et, comme vous le savez tous, nous avons eu beaucoup
de difficulté avec cela. J’ai participé également a la formulation du
nouveau projet de loi que le sénateur Bryden a présenté.

Je ne vois pas la nécessité d’y intégrer une disposition non
dérogatoire en ce moment. Je crains que si nous en plagons une
pour clarifier les choses, cela puisse soulever des questions.
N’insérons pas dans le projet de loi de disposition qui ne soit pas
absolument indispensable pour le moment. C’est tout ce que j’ai a
dire. Je suis convaincu que ce n’est pas nécessaire. Je ne suis pas
avocat, mais si vous estimez que certaines clarifications sont
essentielles, c’est votre métier. Mon opinion est que ce n’est pas
nécessaire.

Le sénateur Milne : Ce projet de loi n’empéche pas le
gouvernement, ni aucun gouvernement ultérieur, de présenter
un autre projet de loi sur les droits des animaux s’il le désire.

Le sénateur Bryden : Ce projet de loi concerne une situation
déja existante. Lorsque le prochain projet de loi sera élaboré, il
faudra du temps pour recueillir des opinions et faire une recherche
minutieuse. En attendant, le présent projet de loi permettra aux
tribunaux d’imposer des peines lourdes dans un but dissuasif.
Croyez-moi, ce que le public réclame, c’est que ’on comble cette
lacune que constitue ’absence de mesures dissuasives et que 1’on
mette un terme aux blessures et aux souffrances des animaux.
Puisque nous pouvons régler cela, faisons-le tout de suite. Si dans
six mois on peut mettre en place un régime beaucoup plus efficace,
ce sera d’autant mieux, mais s’il faut attendre six ans comme la
derniére fois, les cours auront au moins accés a cette protection.

Le sénateur Nolin : Je comprends, sénateur Bryden, et nous
admettons tous que nous ne cherchons pas la perfection. Nous
tentons d’accomplir quelque chose rapidement. Je suis certain que
nous sommes tous d’accord, aprés sept longues années de
discussions.

A

Je voudrais revenir a une réponse que vous avez donnée au
sénateur Milne pour s’assurer que nous fassions une bonne
interprétation du projet de loi. Le nouveau paragraphe 447.1(1)
proposé confére des pouvoirs supplémentaires aux tribunaux.
Vous pourriez peut-étre donner des informations plus précises a
ce sujet.

Le sénateur Bryden : Nous le mettons en évidence, mais ces
pouvoirs existent également dans le Code criminel actuel. La
différence entre cette disposition et le projet de loi C-50 est que



9-11-2006

Affaires juridiques et constitutionnelles

15:29

animal is shorter or it may be longer. Are you referring to
proposed paragraph 447.1(1)(«) in the bill? It states:

(a) make an order prohibiting the accused from owning,
having the custody or control of or residing in the same
premises as an animal or bird during any period that the
court considers appropriate but, in the case of a second or
subsequent offence, for a minimum of five years...

Senator Nolin: Yes.

Senator Bryden: It is five years. In the old code it is two years.
That wording was taken from Bill C-50 and was present in
Bill C-22 as well. It ties into the penalties. Is not a new offence
but is an additional penalty.

Senator Nolin: I am looking at the Criminal Code, where this
does not exist.

Senator Bryden: No. I thought you were referring to something
else.

Senator Nolin: That was my point. I know that it was in a
previous version of the bill as an intention of government to
reorganize that area of the Criminal Code. The courts do not have
that power now.

Senator Bryden: That is correct. I thought we were referring to
another section. It is in there, even though it is lengthy and
descriptive.

Senator Nolin: I wanted to give you the opportunity to provide
Senator Milne with the complete answer. The bill does not only
look after the penalties but also includes additional authority
provided to the courts to deal with the problem.

Senator Bryden: It provides more flexibility to the courts.

Senator Nolin: We had agreed on that as well in the past.

The Chairman: Additionally, in the existing Criminal Code,
which I have before me, section 446(5) states:

Where an accused is convicted of an offence under
subsection (1), the court may, in addition to any other
sentence that may be imposed for the offence, make an order
prohibiting the accused from owning or having custody or
control of an animal during any period not exceeding two
years.

The two-year provision is in the Criminal Code.

Senator Bryden: Bill S-213 has five years and is a little more
extensive. That came out of Bill C-50.

The Chairman: The five years or the two years?

Senator Bryden: In the Criminal Code it is two years but in my
bill it is five years.

I’échéance pour linterdiction de possession dun animal est
plus courte ou qu’elle peut étre plus longue. S’agit-il de
l’alinéa 447.1(1)a) proposé du projet de loi? Il dit ceci :

a) rendre une ordonnance interdisant au prévenu, pour la
période qu’il estime indiquée, d’étre propriétaire d’un animal
ou d’un oiseau, d’en avoir la garde ou le contréle ou
d’habiter un lieu ou se trouve un animal, la durée de celle-ci
étant, en cas de récidive, d’au moins cinq ans...

Le sénateur Nolin : Oui.

Le sénateur Bryden : C’est cinq ans. Dans le code, c’est deux
ans. Ce libellé vient du projet de loi C-50 et se trouvait également
dans le projet de loi C-22. Il se rattache aux peines. Il ne s’agit pas
d’une nouvelle infraction, mais d’une peine plus lourde.

Le sénateur Nolin : J’examine le Code criminel, dans lequel je
ne trouve pas cette disposition.

Le sénateur Bryden : Non. Je pensais que vous faisiez référence
a autre chose.

Le sénateur Nolin : C’est ce que voulais dire. Je sais que cela se
trouvait dans une version précédente du projet de loi, et que
¢’était I'intention du gouvernement de réorganiser cette partie du
Code criminel. Les cours n’ont pas ce pouvoir actuellement.

Le sénateur Bryden : C’est exact. Je pensais que vous faisiez
référence a un autre article. Il est 1a, mais il est long et descriptif.

Le sénateur Nolin : Je voulais vous donner 1’occasion de fournir
la réponse compléte au sénateur Milne. Le projet de loi ne porte
pas uniquement sur les peines, mais inclut ’octroi de pouvoirs
supplémentaires aux tribunaux pour régler le probléme.

Le sénateur Bryden : Il donne une certaine marge de manceuvre
aux tribunaux.

Le sénateur Nolin : Nous étions déja d’accord sur ce point
également.

Le président : En outre, le paragraphe 446(5) du Code criminel
actuel, que j’ai sous les yeux, dit ceci :

En cas d’infraction visée au paragraphe (1), le tribunal
peut, en plus de toute autre peine imposée pour cette
infraction, rendre une ordonnance interdisant au prévenu de
posséder un animal ou un oiseau, ou d’en avoir la garde,
pour une période maximale de deux ans.

La disposition prévoyant une période de deux ans se trouve
dans le Code criminel.

Le sénateur Bryden : Dans le projet de loi S-213, c’est cinq ans,
donc un peu plus long. Cette disposition vient du projet de
loi C-50.

Le président : Les cinq ans ou les deux ans?

Le sénateur Bryden : Dans le Code criminel, c’est deux ans,
mais dans mon projet de loi, c’est cinq ans.
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Senator Andreychuk: It is true that Bill S-213 increases the
penalties. However, this bill will be on the backdrop of what we
have done on all the other bills. It seems that one of our roles is
not to divide Canadians but to bring them together. Communities
were divided such that hunters, trappers and Aboriginal people
had great concerns about the bill in one way and humane
societies, animal rights groups and others had great concerns
about the treatment of animals. With the various bills that have
come before us to address the issue, both sides have become
uncertain and nervous. Now, we have Bill S-213, which legally
does one thing and does it appropriately. However, expectations
are out there.

I had sympathy for the previous government, which was in a
great debate, although necessary, between the Senate and the
House. Back and forth the bills went. The present government
will find itself the recipient of all of that. Have you given thought
to the fact that while technically and legally you are only
increasing penalties, there is great fear out there, as evidenced by
the emails and telephone calls that I am receiving? There is fear on
the one side that this is just one measure, and fear still exists in the
Aboriginal community about what the government will do. On
the other side, there is the fear that government might do nothing
and that this is all they will get, resulting in the animals not being
protected in the way that some people thought they should be
protected.

With your great background, both political and legal, could
you tell us how we avoid dividing the community and yet bring
resolution to this issue beyond what is available in the bill? It is
likely that we will receive the emails and the attacks.

Senator Bryden: Senator Andreychuk, you might have touched
on one reason the present government decided not to introduce a
bill. One area that would help a great deal to move the larger
agenda forward is more direct consultation. You mentioned
Aboriginal people. They are comfortable with this bill because the
ground has not changed. It is the same and they know what they
are dealing with.

There was no direct consultation between government and the
Aboriginal community before launching some of those other bills,
although some advice was given, I believe. Under the terms of the
Constitution, it is a requirement that the Aboriginal community
be consulted in detail before anything is done that would affect
their traditional hunting, fishing and trapping methods.

As far as I know from my involvement from a rather early
stage, that basic consultation did not happen. Similarly, there
were other areas where those of us who are interested in this could

Le sénateur Andreychuk : I1 est vrai que le projet de
loi S-213 augmente les peines. Cependant, ce projet de loi
s’inspire de tous les projets de loi antérieurs. Il semblerait qu’une
de nos fonctions soit non pas de diviser les Canadiens, mais de les
rapprocher. Les collectivités étaient divisées et les chasseurs, les
trappeurs et les Autochtones étaient d’une certaine fagon trés
préoccupés au sujet du projet de loi alors que les sociétés
protectrices des animaux, les groupes de défense des animaux et
d’autres parties avaient de vives préoccupations au sujet de la
fagon dont les animaux sont traités. Avec les différents projets de
loi qui ont été présentés pour tenter de régler le probléme, les deux
parties principales sont devenues incertaines et nerveuses. Nous
avons maintenant le projet de loi S-213 qui régle 1également un
probléme et le fait de fagon appropriée. Cependant, il y a certaines
attentes.

Jéprouvais de la sympathie pour le gouvernement qui
participait a un vaste débat, d’ailleurs nécessaire, entre le Sénat
et la Chambre. Les projets de loi défilaient. Le gouvernement
actuel se trouve étre ’héritier de tout cela. Avez-vous jamais pensé
que si, sur le plan technique et sur le plan juridique, il s’agit
seulement d’augmenter les peines, les parties concernées ont de
grosses craintes, comme en témoignent les courriels et les appels
téléphoniques que nous recevons? Une des parties craint que ce ne
soit qu'un début et la collectivité autochtone a toujours des
craintes au sujet de ce que fera le gouvernement. L’autre partie
craint que le gouvernement ne fasse rien et que ce soit tout ce
qu’elle pourra obtenir, et que les animaux ne seront pas protégés
de facon aussi efficace que certaines personnes le jugent
nécessaire.

Compte tenu de vos riches antécédents, politiques et juridiques,
pourriez-vous nous dire comment nous pourrions éviter de diviser
la collectivité tout en réglant ce probléme sans se limiter a ce qui
se trouve dans le projet de loi? C’est probablement nous qui
recevrons les courriels et les attaques.

Le sénateur Bryden : Sénateur Andreychuk, vous avez peut-étre
mentionné une raison pour laquelle le gouvernement actuel a
décidé de ne pas présenter de projet de loi. Ce qui aiderait
beaucoup a faire progresser I’ensemble de ce dossier, ce seraient
des consultations plus directes. Vous avez mentionné les
Autochtones. Ils sont satisfaits de ce projet de loi, car I’essentiel
n’a pas changé. C’est la méme chose et ils savent a quoi ils ont
affaire.

Le gouvernement n’avait pas tenu de consultation directe avec
la collectivité autochtone avant de présenter plusieurs des autres
projets de loi, quoique quelques avis avaient été donnés, si je ne
me trompe. En vertu de la Constitution, il est obligatoire que la
collectivité autochtone soit consultée de fagon trés sérieuse avant
de prendre toute mesure qui aurait des incidences sur ses
méthodes de chasse, de péche et de piégeage traditionnelles.

A

J’ai commencé a participer a ce processus a une étape assez
précoce et ce type de consultations fondamentales n’ont pas eu
lieu, a ce que je sache. De méme, il y a d’autres domaines ou ceux
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have engaged our citizens more. Even the last stage of Bill C-50
had examples of what the courts have said is unconstitutional.

If you recall, Bill C-50 contained a provision such that
everyone commits an offence who wilfully kills an animal
without lawful excuse. All of us went past that. I found out this
summer that at least one superior court has indicated that that is a
reverse onus and is a violation of the Charter.

The Chairman: What court was that?

Senator Bryden: I have it written down here. This is an
annotation that came out of probably not the most recent
Criminal Code. It was seen that placing the onus on the accused
to prove the legal justification or excuse is unconstitutional as
violating section 11(d) of the Charter. The case is R. v. Gamey, 1993,
page 117.

I do not want to analyze Bill C-50, but those sorts of things
need to be taken care of. We should not be trying to put up shields
around people, when in fact they are not real shields at all, and we
should not ask them to do things that are unconstitutional. We
should be at the stage where the discussion is free flowing and
there are no preconceived conditions or pressing deadlines. That
is one reason for this bill; in other words, this bill is a basic
compromise that says we must get it right before it becomes law.
Once it becomes law, we will have it for a long time, as we have
already seen.

Let us put this protection in place. Those who consider
themselves experts in this area or who are very concerned can then
take the time to complete the consultation and research and come
forward with a new bill that they have time to make acceptable to
the people who interact with animals, the people in humane
societies who are legitimately concerned about the welfare of
animals and the people trying to promote the movement of
animals away from property.

I will give one more example. We talk about moving the section
on animal cruelty away from the property section of the Criminal
Code. Under our Constitution, matters of civil rights and
property are under provincial jurisdiction. What are the
implications for that when we decide to create a new part that
will take care of cruelty to animals? That is a serious
constitutional issue and is worth discussion between the
provinces and the federal government.

This bill is not in any way intended to solve all of those issues. I
have lived with animals all my life, having been born and brought
up on a farm. We need to give what protection we can simply and

qui, parmi nous, s’intéressent a cette question, auraient pu faire
participer davantage les citoyens. Méme en ce qui concerne la
derniére étape que représentait le projet de loi C-50, les cours ont
relevé des cas qu’elles jugeaient anticonstitutionnels.

Vous vous rappelez peut-étre que le projet de loi contenait une
disposition précisant que toute personne qui tue volontairement
un animal sans excuse légitime commet une infraction. Nous
avons tous laissé passer cette disposition. J’ai appris cet été qu'au
moins une cour supérieure avait indiqué que c’était une inversion
de la charge de la preuve et que c’était contraire aux dispositions
de la Charte.

Le président : De quelle cour s’agit-il?

Le sénateur Bryden : Je ’ai noté. C’est une annotation qui ne
vient probablement pas de la version la plus récente du Code
criminel. Cette cour a considéré que le fait d’imposer a ’accusé la
charge de faire la preuve de la justification ou de I’excuse légitime
est anticonstitutionnel, car cela va a I’encontre des dispositions de
I’alinéa 11d) de la Charte. Il s’agit de I'affaire R. c. Gamey, 1993, a
la page 117.

Je ne veux pas analyser le projet de loi C-50, mais il est essentiel
de tenir compte de ces questions-la. Il ne faut pas essayer de
protéger les gens par des mesures de protection qui n’en sont pas,
en réalité, et il ne faut pas demander aux citoyens de faire des
choses qui sont anticonstitutionnelles. Nous devrions étre arrivés
a I’étape ou les discussions sont fluides et ou il n’y a plus de
conditions précongues ni d’échéances serrées. C’est une des
raisons pour lesquelles je présente ce projet de loi; en d’autres
termes, ce projet de loi est un compromis qui indique qu’il faut
bien faire les choses avant que cela n’ait force de loi. Quand cela
aura force de loi, ce sera 1a pour des années, comme nous avons
déja pu le constater.

11 faut mettre cette mesure de protection en place. Ceux et celles
qui se considérent comme des experts dans ce domaine ou qui
sont trés préoccupés peuvent prendre le temps de terminer les
consultations et la recherche et de présenter un nouveau projet de
loi qu’ils pourront rendre acceptable aux personnes qui ont des
interactions avec les animaux, aux membres des sociétés
protectrices des animaux qui sont légitimement préoccupés au
sujet du bien-étre des animaux et aux personnes qui font la
promotion d’un retrait des dispositions relatives aux animaux de
la partie du Code criminel concernant les biens.

Je cite un autre exemple. Nous discutons de détacher les
dispositions concernant la cruauté envers les animaux de la partie
du Code criminel relative aux biens. Dans le contexte de notre
Constitution, les questions concernant les droits civils et les biens
relévent de la compétence des provinces. Quelles seront les
implications lorsque nous déciderons de créer une nouvelle partie
consacrée a la cruauté envers les animaux? C’est une question
constitutionnelle importante qui vaut bien des discussions entre
les provinces et le gouvernement fédéral.

Ce projet de loi ne vise aucunement a régler toutes ces
questions. J’ai vécu avec des animaux toute ma vie, car je suis né
et jai passé mon enfance dans une ferme. Il est essentiel
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directly, as quickly as is reasonably possible. That is the intention
of this bill.

If we can get this bill through the chamber here, there are
people prepared to sponsor it in the House of Commons. There is
support in the House of Commons. I am sure there is also
opposition. I have a letter here from Mr. Holland —

Senator Nolin: He has his own bill.

Senator Bryden: I think Bill C-50 has been reintroduced. I have
a hard enough job making my own case; I do not need to make
one for him.

Nevertheless, this is a very modest bill. To some extent, it is a
compromise.

The Chairman: Before we conclude, I think all of us received
correspondence from people who would like to be potential
witnesses. Some of the concerns I have read in the mail we have
received have been about such things as stray cats or animals that
may be tortured. Does your bill deal with that issue?

Senator Bryden: It does not deal with that issue directly and is
not intended to. I may as well put this on the record. This is in the
Criminal Code.

The Chairman: Which section are you referring to?

Senator Bryden: This appears under section 444 and 445 of the
Code. In the annotation it clearly states that these provisions are
designed to protect domesticated and domestic animals and do
not apply to stray animals. The words “kept for a lawful purpose”
contemplate a keeper of the animal and a measure of control
exercised for that person. There is a reference to a legal case here.

The Chairman: Therefore, stray and wild animals are not
included in your bill?

Senator Bryden: No. My opinion from some of my reading is
that domestic and domesticated animals have been advanced
enough to say animals in the control of persons.

In many instances where cruelty occurs to a stray animal or to
a wild animal, it is usually as the result of something that has been
done by a person to cause pain and suffering.

Many of those cases have not been successful in prosecution
not because the courts would not address them, but because there
was a weak spot in the evidence. All of us who have been in court
know it is one thing to be aware of who committed a crime, but it
is another thing to be able to prove it. This is gradually expanding
to be able to look after that.

It is a long jump from what I just read to what we were
reaching for in Bill C-50, which was really to expand the universe
to include all vertebrates, including wild animals and fish.

d’accorder aussi rapidement qu’il est raisonnablement possible la
protection que nous pouvons accorder d'une fagon simple et
directe. C’est I’objet de ce projet de loi.

Si nous arrivons a faire approuver ce projet de loi ici, certains
députés sont préts a le parrainer a la Chambre des communes. Il a
de 'appui a la Chambre des communes. Je suis certain qu’il a
également des adversaires. J’ai ici une lettre de M. Holland...

Le sénateur Nolin : Il a son propre projet de loi.

Le sénateur Bryden : Je pense que le projet de loi C-50 a été
présenté a nouveau. J’ai déja assez de difficulté a promouvoir ma
cause; je n’ai pas besoin de promouvoir la sienne.

Le présent projet de loi est toutefois un projet de loi trés
modeste. Il s’agit d’un compromis, dans une certaine mesure.

Le président : Avant de terminer, je pense que nous avons tous
recu des lettres de personnes qui aimeraient témoigner. Parmi les
préoccupations signalées dans le courrier que j’ai regu, il y a des
questions comme celles des chats errants ou des animaux torturés.
Votre projet de loi traite-t-il de cette question?

Le sénateur Bryden : Il n’en traite pas de facon directe et ce
n’est pas son objet non plus. Je ferais bien de mentionner, pour le
compte rendu, que c’est prévu au Code criminel.

Le président : A quel article faites-vous référence?

Le sénateur Bryden : Cela se trouve dans les dispositions des
articles 444 et 445 du Code. Dans les notes, il est mentionné
clairement que les dispositions ont pour objet de protéger les
animaux domestiqués et domestiques et qu’elles ne sont pas
applicables aux animaux errants. Les termes « gardés pour une fin
légitime » visent une personne qui garde ’animal et exerce un
certain contréle sur cet animal. Il y a une référence a une cause
judiciaire.

Le président : Par conséquent, les animaux errants ou sauvages
ne sont pas visés par votre projet de loi. Est-ce bien cela?

Le sénateur Bryden : Non. D’aprés certaines lectures, mon avis
est que les animaux domestiques et domestiqués sont assez
avancés pour pouvoir étre considérés comme des animaux sous le
contréle de personnes.

Dans de nombreux cas de cruauté envers un animal errant ou
un animal sauvage, il s’agit habituellement du résultat des actes
commis par une personne dans le but de causer de la douleur et de
la souffrance.

La plupart de ces causes n’ont pas été gagnées devant les
tribunaux et ce n’est pas parce que ceux-ci ne voulaient pas les
examiner, mais en raison d’un point faible dans la preuve. Tous
ceux d’entre nous qui sont déja allés au tribunal savent que c’est
une chose de connaitre ’auteur d’une infraction criminelle, mais
que c’est une autre paire de manches d’arriver a prouver que c’est
lui. Ces dispositions ont pour but de permettre de régler ce
probléme.

Il y a un monde entre ce que je viens de lire et ce que nous
visions dans le projet de loi C-50, a savoir élargir 'univers pour
inclure tous les vertébrés, y compris les animaux et les poissons
sauvages.
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One of the things not explored as a result of pressures of time
were the implications for industries involved with these animals
and expanding the scope of the Criminal Code to that.

From one point of view, it is great because you can charge
people or attempt to charge people. However, people who interact
with animals as part of their business or recreation must have
some comfort that this bill is not open season.

As I say, this discussion could go on for a very long time. I am
trying to do the best I can in a short amount of time.

The Chairman: Senator Bryden, on behalf of the committee,
I thank you very much for providing the introduction to this
important bill. I must say, as I anticipated, your evidence was
clear and very much to the point. Your message has been heard.
We thank you for taking the time to answer our questions.

Senator Bryden: Thank you for your attention and for hearing
me.

The Chairman: I welcome to the Standing Senate Committee
on Legal and Constitutional Affairs two officials from the
Department of Justice, Mr. Donald Piragoff, Senior Assistant
Deputy Minister, and Joanne Klineberg, Counsel, Criminal Law
Policy.

We are continuing our study of the private member’s bill
known as Bill S-213, to amend the Criminal Code, cruelty to
animals. We would like to hear your presentation on the bill from
the point of view of the Department of Justice.

Donald Piragoff, Senior Assistant Deputy Minister, Department
of Justice Canada: We are here today to address Bill S-213, to
amend the Criminal Code to increase the maximum penalties for
animal cruelty offences.

Bill S-213 amends the four sections of the Criminal Code that
set out the various offences of animal cruelty and describes the
maximum penalties for those offences. The bill deals with the
sentencing provisions for the offences. It does not, as Senator
Bryden indicated, create any new offences.

I propose to describe briefly the current regime of animal
cruelty offences and then describe how Bill S-213 would amend
that regime.

Whereas every province has enacted animal welfare legislation
aimed at the prevention of animal cruelty and the relief of animals
that are in distress, the Criminal Code provisions on animal
cruelty are governed by the general purposes of the criminal law.
We try to promote a peaceful society and prevent and punish acts

Un des aspects qui n’ont pas été examinés, faute d’avoir
suffisamment de temps, sont les incidents en ce qui concerne
les industries ayant des interactions avec ces animaux et
I’élargissement de la portée du Code criminel dans ce domaine.

D’un certain point de vue, c’est trés bien, car on peut porter des
accusations ou tenter de porter des accusations contre certaines
personnes. Cependant, les personnes qui ont des interactions avec
les animaux dans le cadre de leurs activités commerciales ou
récréatives doivent avoir ’assurance que ce projet de loi ne les
exposera pas a une chasse aux sorciéres.

Comme je ’ai mentionné, cette discussion pourrait se
poursuivre trés longtemps. Je fais de mon mieux dans le peu de
temps dont je dispose.

Le président : Sénateur Bryden, au nom de mes collégues, je
vous remercie pour la présentation de ce projet de loi important.
Comme je l'avais prévu, votre témoignage était clair et trés
pertinent. Votre message a été entendu. Nous vous remercions
d’avoir pris le temps de répondre a nos questions.

Le sénateur Bryden : Je vous remercie pour votre attention.

Le président : J’accueille maintenant au Comité sénatorial
permanent des affaires juridiques et constitutionnelles deux
porte-parole du ministére de la Justice, M. Donald Piragoff,
sous-ministre adjoint principal et Mme Joanne Klineberg,
avocate, Section de la politique en mati¢re de droit pénal.

Nous poursuivons notre étude du projet de loi d’initiative
parlementaire dénommé projet de loi S-213, Loi modifiant le
Code criminel (cruauté envers les animaux). Nous aimerions
entendre votre exposé sur le projet de loi, du point de vue du
ministére de la Justice.

Donald Piragoff, sous-ministre adjoint principal, ministére de la
Justice Canada : Nous sommes ici aujourd’hui pour faire des
commentaires sur le projet de loi S-213, Loi modifiant le Code
criminel dans le but d’augmenter les peines maximales pour
infractions de cruauté envers les animaux.

Le projet de loi S-213 modifie les quatre articles du Code
criminel qui établit les diverses infractions de cruauté envers les
animaux et indique les peines maximales pour ces infractions. Le
projet de loi contient également des dispositions visant la
détermination de la peine en ce qui concerne les infractions.
Comme I’a précisé le sénateur Bryden, il ne crée pas de nouvelles
infractions.

Je me propose de décrire briévement le régime actuel des
infractions de cruauté envers les animaux et d’expliquer en quoi le
projet de loi S-213 le modifierait.

Alors que toutes les provinces ont promulgué des dispositions
législatives de protection des animaux ayant pour objet de
prévenir la cruauté envers eux et de soulager les animaux en
détresse, les dispositions du Code criminel relatives a la cruauté
envers les animaux sont régies par les objectifs généraux du droit
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that harm or threaten to harm society and that undermine social
values.

Currently, the Criminal Code provides a number of distinct
offences in relation to cruelty to animals, some of which are quite
specific and others that are generally worded. Sections 444 to
447 describe offences that involve wilful killing, maiming,
wounding, injuring or endangering cattle. Section 445 deals with
wilfully killing, maiming, wounding, injuring or endangering
animals other than cattle that are kept for a lawful purpose.

A general offence of wilfully causing unnecessary pain,
suffering or injury to an animal or causing unnecessary pain by
failure to exercise reasonable care exists in section 446(1)(a).
Engaging in various specific acts, such as baiting an animal,
transporting an animal in an unsafe manner, releasing a
bird from captivity for the purpose of being shot, exist under
section 446, paragraphs (b) to (g). Neglecting to provide adequate
food, water, shelter or care for an animal is an offence under
section 446(c). Section 447 is a provision that concerns the
keeping of a cockpit.

The current sections of the Code on cruelty to animals are
largely unchanged from those that were first enacted in the
Criminal Code in 1893. A Criminal Code omnibus bill
in 1953 reflected one noteworthy change: the offence of causing
unnecessary pain, suffering or injury to an animal was added to
the code.

Whereas most of the specific offences are drafted in
language requiring a proprietary or possessory relationship with
the animal, such as requirements that it be kept for a lawful
purpose or that the individual be the owner, section 446(1)(a), the
generally worded and most frequently charged offence of causing
unnecessary pain, suffering or injury to an animal is not limited to
kept or owned animals. I believe that addresses one concern
raised by a senator earlier this morning.

Another Criminal Code omnibus bill in 1968 introduced the
possibility of a sentencing order prohibiting a convicted repeat
animal abuser from owning or possessing an animal for up to two
years. A few years later, in another omnibus bill, that section was
amended to allow for prohibition orders even for first-time
offenders.

With respect to maximum available penalties, all offences
except those in respect of cattle are summary conviction offences
only and carry a maximum of six months in prison, a $2,000 fine

criminel. Notre but est de promouvoir une société pacifique et de
prévenir et punir des actes qui sont préjudiciables, ou qui
menacent d’étre préjudiciables, a la société et sapent les valeurs
sociales.

Actuellement, le Code criminel prévoit plusieurs infractions
distinctes liées a la cruauté envers les animaux, dont certaines sont
trés précises alors que d’autres sont décrites de fagon trés générale.
Les articles 444 a 447 décrivent des infractions liées au fait de
tuer, mutiler, blesser, estropier les bestiaux ou les mettre en
danger. L’article 445 concerne les personnes qui, volontairement,
tuent, mutilent, blessent, estropient ou mettent en danger d’autres
animaux que des bestiaux qui sont gardés pour une fin légitime.

L’alinéa 446(1)a) prévoit une infraction générale liée au fait de
causer volontairement une douleur, souffrance ou blessure sans
nécessité a un animal ou de causer sans nécessité une douleur en
omettant d’accorder des soins raisonnables. Les alinéas 446(1)b) a
g) concernent divers actes précis comme le fait de harceler un
animal, de transporter un animal de fagon non sécuritaire, de
relacher un oiseau qui était en captivité dans le but de le tuer. Le
fait d’omettre de fournir les aliments, I’eau, I’abri ou les soins
suffisants a un animal est une infraction aux termes des
dispositions de 1’alinéa 446¢). L’article 447 est une disposition
concernant la garde d’une aréne pour les combats de cogs.

Les dispositions actuelles du Code relatives a la cruauté envers
les animaux n’ont pas beaucoup changé par rapport aux
dispositions initiales intégrées au Code criminel en 1893.
En 1953, un projet de loi omnibus modifiant le Code criminel a
apporté un changement qui mérite d’étre signalé : I'infraction liée
au fait de causer une douleur, souffrance ou blessure, sans
nécessité, a un animal a été ajoutée au Code.

Alors que la plupart des infractions sont décrites en des termes
exigeant une relation de propriété ou de possession avec ’animal,
notamment le fait qu’il faille que ’animal soit gardé pour une fin
légitime ou que la personne concernée en soit le propriétaire,
I’alinéa 446(1)a), a savoir 'infraction décrite de la facon la plus
générale, et le chef d’accusation le plus courant, liée au fait de
causer une douleur, souffrance ou blessure, sans nécessité a un
animal, ne s’applique pas uniquement a des animaux qui sont
gardés par quelqu’un ou qui appartiennent a quelqu’un. Je pense
que cette disposition répond a une préoccupation mentionnée par
un sénateur ce matin.

Un autre projet de loi omnibus modifiant le Code criminel,
présenté en 1968, a prévu, pour la premiére fois, la possibilité
d’une ordonnance de détermination de la peine interdisant la
possession d’un animal pour une période maximale de deux ans a
tout auteur récidiviste reconnu coupable de mauvais traitements
envers les animaux. Quelques années plus tard, dans un autre
projet de loi omnibus, cet article fut modifié en vue d’autoriser la
prise d’ordonnances d’interdiction, méme dans le cas des
délinquants primaires.

En ce qui concerne les peines maximales disponibles, toutes
les infractions, sauf celles concernant les bestiaux, sont des
infractions punissables sur déclaration de culpabilité par procédure
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or both. Offences in respect of cattle are, however, pure indictable
offences and subject to a maximum of five years’ imprisonment.

As I mentioned a moment ago, the code also allows a judge to
prohibit a convicted offender from owning an animal for up to
two years. Prohibition orders, which are aimed primarily at
preventing future cruelty towards animals rather than at
punishing the offender, are imposed relatively often in animal
cruelty cases.

Bill S-213 proposes three changes to the current animal cruelty
regime, which I just described. All of these changes are in the
nature of penalty enhancements. Each of the changes would
respond to an identified concern with the present law. There is, as
Senator Bryden indicated, strong agreement across all sectors that
the low maximum penalties for cruelty are inadequate, both to
denounce animal cruelty as being unacceptable and to punish acts
of cruelty when they do occur.

One aspect of Bill S-213 would make all offences hybrid,
meaning the prosecution could choose to proceed by way of
summary conviction procedure or by way of indictment,
depending on the seriousness of the case. It would then separate
offences into two categories: one for injuring animals
intentionally or recklessly, the second for injuring animals by
neglect. That is an important distinction because under traditional
criminal law principles, actions that are done knowingly or even
with recklessness as to the consequences are treated as more
serious than those committed by criminal neglect or by gross
inadvertence.

For the new category of offences that require intention or
recklessness and also for the offence of causing pain, suffering or
injury by failure to exercise reasonable care, the maximum penalty
would be increased to five years on indictment and 18 months on
summary conviction. For all other offences of negligently causing
injury to an animal during transport, abandoning an animal in
distress and failing to provide adequate to care to animals, the
maximum penalty on indictment is raised to two years. The
maximum on summary conviction remains at six months. The
separation of offences according to their degree of fault and
corresponding differential increase in maximum penalties would
be consistent with other types of criminal offences.

sommaire seulement et sont assorties d’une peine d’emprisonnement
maximale de six mois ou d’une amende de deux mille dollars, ou les
deux. Les infractions concernant les bestiaux sont toutefois
considérées comme des actes strictement criminels et sont passibles
d’un emprisonnement maximal de cinq ans.

Comme je I’ai signalé il y a quelques minutes, le Code autorise
également un juge a interdire la possession d’un animal pour une
période maximale de deux ans a un délinquant condamné. Des
ordonnances d’interdiction qui ont pour objet principal de
prévenir la cruauté envers les animaux plutét que de punir le
délinquant sont souvent imposées dans les cas de cruauté envers
les animaux.

Le projet de loi S-213 propose trois changements au régime
actuel en ce qui concerne la cruauté envers les animaux, que je
viens de décrire. Tous ces changements résident dans la nature des
augmentations de peine. Chaque changement correspondrait a
une préoccupation mentionnée au sujet des présentes dispositions
législatives. Comme I’a signalé le sénateur Bryden, on estime
généralement dans tous les secteurs que les peines maximales peu
¢élevées pour la cruauté envers les animaux sont insuffisantes, que
ce soit pour dénoncer la cruauté envers les animaux comme une
pratique inacceptable ou pour punir les actes de cruauté commis.

Un aspect du projet de loi S-213 ferait de toutes les infractions
des infractions mixtes, c’est-a-dire que les procureurs pourraient
décider de procéder par déclaration de culpabilité par procédure
sommaire ou par mise en accusation, selon la gravité du cas. Ils
scinderaient ensuite les infractions en deux catégories: la
premiére pour avoir infligé des blessures intentionnellement ou
par insouciance a des animaux, et la deuxiéme pour avoir blessé
des animaux par négligence. Il s’agit d’une distinction importante,
car selon les principes traditionnels du droit pénal, les actes
commis sciemment, voire par insouciance de leurs conséquences,
sont considérés comme des actes plus graves que ceux commis par
négligence criminelle ou par étourderie grave.

En ce qui concerne la nouvelle catégorie d’infractions liées a un
acte intentionnel ou a de I'insouciance, ainsi que pour I'infraction
liée au fait de causer une douleur, souffrance ou blessure, en
omettant d’accorder des soins raisonnables, la peine maximale
serait portée a cinq ans sur reconnaissance de culpabilité
criminelle et a dix-huit mois sur déclaration de culpabilité par
procédure sommaire. Pour toutes les autres infractions liées au
fait de causer des blessures par négligence a un animal pendant
son transport, d’abandonner un animal en détresse et de ne pas lui
accorder des soins adéquats, la peine maximale pour la
reconnaissance de culpabilité d’un acte criminel est portée a
deux ans. La peine maximale par déclaration de culpabilité par
procédure sommaire est maintenue a six mois. La distinction faite
entre les infractions selon le niveau de responsabilité et
I’augmentation équivalente des peines maximales serait
comparable a ce qui est prévu pour d’autres types d’infractions
criminelles.
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A second aspect of Bill S-213 would remove the current
two-year maximum cap of an order prohibiting an offender from
possessing an animal. This change responds to concerns that have
been identified, including by some courts, that a prohibition order
of two years fails to adequately prevent future offences.

Third, the proposals would include a new express power for the
court to order that a convicted offender pay reasonable
compensation to an animal welfare agency or an individual who
provided care to the animal in respect of which the offender was
convicted. Requiring the offender to reimburse those costs will
help instill a sense of responsibility in the offender, while at the
same time helping welfare agencies recoup the costs of their
efforts.

Most provinces and territories have legislation that creates
independent agencies, typically called humane societies or SPCAs,
to both prevent and educate the public about animal cruelty and
also to investigate suspected cases of criminal acts of animal abuse
and to lay charges when appropriate. The agencies are typically
registered charities that rely on public donations, although some
also receive small amounts of money from municipal or provincial
governments for some of their services, such as caring for stray
animals. Under the applicable provincial legislation, these
agencies can recoup the funds associated with carrying for
neglected animals from the people responsible for neglecting
them. This new measure in Bill S-213 would complement that
mechanism and provide an additional mechanism to foster a sense
of responsibility in the offender while simultaneously helping
these important agencies obtain sufficient funds to carry out their
statutorily mandated functions.

Those are the three principal amendments in Bill S-213.
Together they constitute a significant improvement to the
current law regarding sentencing and one with which all
Canadians would agree.

We will be happy to take you questions.

The Chairman: You made an interesting comment about
proprietary or possessive rights in relation to animals. You
referred us to section 446(1)(a), where the generally worded and
most frequently charged offence of causing unnecessary pain,
suffering or injury to an animal is not limited to kept or owned
animals. You said that that would answer the question I raised
about stray animals. If that is the case and this is one of the
commonly used sections, could you tell me why it would not be

Un deuxiéme effet du projet de loi S-213 serait de supprimer le
plafond maximal de deux ans applicable actuellement a une
ordonnance interdisant la possession d’un animal a un
contrevenant. Ce changement répondrait a des préoccupations
qui ont été mentionnées, notamment par certains tribunaux, a
savoir qu’une ordonnance d’interdiction de deux ans n’est pas une
mesure préventive suffisante en ce qui concerne de futures
infractions.

Troisiémement, les propositions octroyaient aux tribunaux un
pouvoir exprés d’ordonner a un contrevenant condamné de verser
une indemnité raisonnable a un organisme de protection des
animaux ou a une personne qui a donné des soins a ’animal au
sujet duquel le contrevenant a été condamné. Le fait d’obliger le
contrevenant a rembourser ces frais contribuera a lui inculquer un
certain sens des responsabilités tout en aidant les organismes de
protection a récupérer les frais liés a leurs efforts.

La plupart des provinces et des territoires ont adopté des
dispositions législatives créant des organismes indépendants
appelés généralement sociétés protectrices des animaux ou
sociétés de prévention de la cruauté envers les animaux, afin de
faire de la prévention et de sensibiliser le public a la cruauté envers
les animaux, ainsi que pour enquéter sur les cas présumés d’actes
criminels de cruauté envers les animaux et de porter des
accusations, le cas échéant. Ces organismes sont généralement
des organismes de bienfaisance enregistrés qui comptent sur des
dons publics, quoique certains d’entre eux recoivent de modestes
sommes d’argent des administrations municipales ou des
gouvernements provinciaux pour certains de leurs services,
notamment en ce qui concerne les animaux errants. En vertu
des dispositions législatives provinciales applicables, ces
organismes peuvent récupérer les fonds associés aux soins
donnés a des animaux négligés auprés des personnes
responsables de la négligence. Cette nouvelle mesure du projet
de loi S-213 compléterait ce mécanisme et instaurerait un
mécanisme supplémentaire pour inculquer un sens des
responsabilités au contrevenant, tout en aidant ces organismes
qui jouent un réle important a récolter suffisamment de fonds
pour exercer leurs fonctions prescrites par des dispositions
législatives.

Ce sont 1a les trois principales modifications que contient le
projet de loi S-213. 1l s’agit d’une amélioration considérable par
rapport aux dispositions législatives actuelles concernant la
détermination de la peine, amélioration qu’approuvent tous les
Canadiens et Canadiennes.

Nous répondrons volontiers a vos questions.

Le président : Vous avez fait un commentaire intéressant au
sujet des droits de propriété ou de possession en rapport avec les
animaux. Vous nous avez renvoyés a ’alinéa 446(1)a), dans lequel
I'infraction décrite en termes généraux et faisant le plus souvent
I’objet d’accusations, a savoir le fait de causer une douleur,
souffrance ou blessure sans nécessité a un animal, n’est pas
applicable uniquement aux animaux dont on a la garde ou dont
on est propriétaire. Vous avez signalé que cela répondrait a la
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prudent to have in Bill S-213 a non-derogation clause for
Aboriginal peoples?

Mr. Piragoff: As Senator Bryden indicated, parts of this law
have existed since 1892. I believe this provision was enacted in 1953.
It has operated without a derogation clause since 1982 as well.

As the senator indicated, the Constitution applies. A piece of
legislation cannot give any stronger protection than the
Constitution can give.

The Chairman: Is it the department’s opinion that the
non-derogation clause is not required, notwithstanding your
interpretation of section 447(2)?

Mr. Piragoff: That was the position of the department with
respect to the previous bills. I believe derogation clauses were
added to Bill C-50 to respond to particular concerns expressed by
this committee.

I believe that is why a previous government in the latest
Bill C-50 did introduce a clause that touched on these issues to
respond to concerns. However, at the time, the minister indicated
that strictly legally it was not necessary.

The Chairman: Because of the operation of section 35?

Mr. Piragoff: That is right.

Senator Joyal: I would like to come back to the first point you
made in answer to the question asked by our chairman.

You say that stray animals are covered by section 446(1)(a),
which states: “wilfully causes unnecessary pain, suffering or injury
to an animal or bird.” The section has an “or.” In other words,
you can be charged under the section if you are the owner of an
animal or you have the possession of an animal, or you can be
charged if you wilfully cause unnecessary pain.

If I understand your interpretation, that is the section of the
Criminal Code that allows prosecution of somebody who would
be wilfully causing unnecessary pain to an animal that, for
instance, he happened to find in a forest or a public place and of
which he is not the owner. Am I right?

Mr. Piragoff: Yes, senator. There are two parts to (a), as you
indicated. One part of that provision is a general provision talking
about wilfully causing unnecessary pain. The other part of the
provision — and it may be clearer in the French version — says
that if you are the owner, you also have an obligation not to
wilfully permit to be caused. You have a higher obligation as an
owner.

question que j’ai posée au sujet des animaux errants. Dans ce cas,
et si c’est un des articles auxquels on a fréquemment recours,
pourriez-vous m’expliquer pourquoi il ne serait pas prudent
d’inclure dans le projet de loi S-213 une disposition n’autorisant
pas la dérogation en ce qui concerne les Autochtones?

M. Piragoff : Comme 1’a signalé le sénateur Bryden, certaines
de ces dispositions législatives existent depuis 1892. Je pense que
cette disposition a été promulguée en 1953. Elle est en outre
appliquée sans disposition dérogatoire depuis 1982.

Comme 1’a mentionné le sénateur, la Constitution s’applique.
Un projet de loi ne peut pas assurer une protection plus efficace
que la Constitution.

Le président : Est-ce 1’avis du ministére que la disposition de
non-dérogation n’est pas nécessaire malgré votre interprétation
du paragraphe 447(2)?

M. Piragoff : C’était la position du ministére en ce qui
concernait les projets de loi précédents. Je pense que des
dispositions dérogatoires avaient été ajoutées au projet de
loi C-50 pour répondre a des préoccupations spécifiques de
votre comité.

Je pense que c’est la raison pour laquelle un
gouvernement précédent a inclus dans la derniére version du
projet de loi C-50 une disposition concernant ces questions. Le
ministre avait toutefois indiqué a cette occasion que, sur un plan
strictement légal, elle n’était pas nécessaire.

Le président : En raison de l'application de [Iarticle 35,
n’est-ce pas?

M. Piragoff : C’est bien cela.

Le sénateur Joyal : J’aimerais revenir au premier commentaire
que vous avez fait en répondant a la question de notre président.

Vous avez fait remarquer que les dispositions de ’alinéa 446(1)a)
sont applicables aux animaux errants. Cet alinéa dit ceci :
« volontairement cause a un animal ou un oiseau une douleur,
souffrance ou blessure, sans nécessité ». Cette disposition contient
un « ou ». Autrement dit, vous pouvez étre accusé en vertu de cette
disposition si vous étes le propriétaire d’un animal ou si vous étes en
possession d’un animal, ou encore si vous causez volontairement
une douleur sans nécessité.

Si je comprends bien votre interprétation, il s’agit de ’article du
Code criminel qui permet de poursuivre quiconque causerait
volontairement et sans nécessité de la douleur a un animal qui se
trouvait par exemple dans une forét ou dans un lieu public et dont
il n’est pas le propriétaire. Est-ce bien cela?

M. Piragoff : Oui, sénateur. Comme vous I’avez mentionné,
l’alinéa a) contient deux volets. L’un est que cette disposition est
une disposition générale dans laquelle il est question de quiconque
cause une douleur, volontairement et sans nécessité.
L’autre volet — et c’est peut-étre plus clair dans la version
frangaise — indique que si vous étes le propriétaire, vous avez en
outre une obligation de ne pas permettre de causer
volontairement une douleur. Vous avez une obligation d’un
degré supérieur a titre de propriétaire.
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Clearly, this provision captures those individuals who, for
example, find a dog on the street and hurt it. The dog might be a
stray or the neighbour’s dog. This covers it equally. It covers
harming your neighbour’s dog or harming a dog on the street. It
is the wilful infliction of unnecessary pain, suffering or injury to
an animal, irrespective of whether the animal is owned or not and
irrespective of whether you know it is owned.

Senator Joyal: If I understand your interpretation, the
preoccupation that has been expressed by concerned groups is
over the fact that stray animals were not covered by the Criminal
Code. That is not the right interpretation of the Criminal Code as
it stands now; is that correct?

Mr. Piragoff: That is correct with respect to this particular
offence. Other offences, in section 445.1, for example, have
limitations that make it clear that they are talking about kept
animals. They are specific offences dealing with kept animals.

Senator Joyal: The overall provision is section 446(1)(«a), which
is the general application to cover the case where a person would
be causing pain just for the sake of causing pain. It is not because
the person has bought the animal or has been charged with the
responsibility of keeping the animal and so forth. Let us take the
usual case we have seen: somebody goes on the street, picks up a
cat or a wandering dog and takes them home and does not feed
them or treats them unreasonably. Those cases would be covered
by 446(1)(a).

Mr. Piragoff: Yes, gratuitous violence and causing unnecessary
pain.

Senator Joyal: In my reading, in section 446(1)(a), which says
“wilfully causes,” word “wilfully” would imply mens rea, that is,
somebody’s being conscious of the act that he or she is
committing. The intention has to be proven in court for the
person to be found guilty.

Mr. Piragoff: Yes and no, senator. That is the general
interpretation of what “wilful” means. It means “intentionally”
but, as Senator Bryden indicated, there is another
provision that applies to this part of the Criminal Code —
section 429, I believe — which expands the definition of
“wilfulness” to include recklessness. The word “wilful” does
mean intentional or reckless. The word also appears in other parts
of this provision, which has caused some problems because it
creates an oxymoron. An example is “wilful neglect.” That has
caused problems because it is basically intentional negligence, and
negligence is the absence of intent; it is being very careless.

Senator Joyal: If I understand the interpretation of the code,
“recklessness” implies that a reasonable person put in that
position would realize that his or her actions could not be but
wilful. You cannot ignore what you are doing.

Cette disposition englobe clairement les personnes qui trouvent
par exemple un chien dans la rue et lui infligent des blessures. 11
peut s’agir d’un chien errant ou du chien d’un voisin. Les deux cas
sont couverts en méme temps. Cette disposition englobe le fait de
faire souffrir le chien d’un voisin ou un chien errant dans la rue.
Cette disposition concerne le fait d’infliger volontairement, sans
nécessité, une douleur, souffrance ou blessure a un animal, qu’il
s’agisse d’'un animal vous appartenant ou non et que vous en
connaissiez ou non le propriétaire.

Le sénateur Joyal : Si je vous comprends bien, des groupes
intéressés ont exprimé des préoccupations parce qu’ils pensaient
que les dispositions du Code criminel n’étaient pas applicables
aux animaux errants, mais ce n’est pas une interprétation exacte
du Code criminel sous son libellé actuel; est-ce bien cela?

M. Piragoff : C’est bien cela en ce qui concerne spécifiquement
cette infraction. En ce qui a trait a d’autres infractions, celles
prévues au paragraphe 445(1), par exemple, certaines restrictions
indiquent clairement qu’il s’agit d’animaux ayant un propriétaire.

Le sénateur Joyal: La disposition générale est
l’alinéa 446(1)a), qui est 'application générale incluant les cas
ou une personne causerait une douleur pour le pur plaisir d’en
causer. Il n’est pas essentiel que la personne ait acheté ’animal ou
ait été chargée de la responsabilité d’en assurer la garde, par
exemple. Examinons le cas courant : une personne va dans la rue,
ramasse un chat ou un chien errant, le raméne chez elle et ne le
nourrit pas ou le traite de facon déraisonnable. C’est
l’alinéa 446(1)a) qui serait applicable a ce cas-la.

M. Piragoff : Oui, la violence gratuite et le fait de causer une
douleur sans nécessité.

Le sénateur Joyal : D’aprés moi, l'alinéa 446(1)a), ou I’on
trouve les termes « par négligence volontaire cause », le terme
« volontaire » sous-entend une intention criminelle, c’est-a-dire
que la personne est consciente de l’acte qu’elle commet.
L’intention doit étre prouvée devant le tribunal pour que la
personne soit reconnue coupable.

M. Piragoff : Oui et non, sénateur. C’est l'interprétation
générale du terme « volontaire ». Il signification
« intentionnellement » mais, comme 1’a précisé le sénateur
Bryden, une autre disposition s’applique a cette partic du Code
criminel — il s’agit de ’article 429, si je ne me trompe — et elle
élargit la définition du terme « volontaire » en incluant
I'insouciance. Le terme « volontairement » ne signifie pas
intentionnellement ou par insouciance. On le retrouve également
dans d’autres parties de cette disposition, ce qui a causé quelques
problémes, parce qu’il engendre un double sens contradictoire.
Un exemple est la « négligence volontaire ». Cela a causé des
problémes parce qu’il s’agit essentiellement de négligence
intentionnelle alors que la négligence est dénuée d’intentions;
c’est étre trés négligent.

Le sénateur Joyal : Si je comprends bien l'interprétation du
Code, le terme « insouciance » implique qu’une personne
raisonnable se trouvant dans cette situation se rendrait
certainement compte que ses actes sont volontaires. On ne peut
pas ignorer ses actes.
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Mr. Piragoff: Recklessness is higher than simple negligence.
You are aware of the risk and you continue to act in any event.
Ordinary recklessness can simply be that you ought to have
known there was a risk, yet you exercised no due diligence or care
whatsoever.

Senator Joyal: That is where the intention is implied. It is
implied in the recklessness referred to in section 429. That is why
there might be a contradiction between “wilfully” and
“recklessness.”

Joanne Klineberg, Counsel, Criminal Law Policy, Department of
Justice Canada: That is it exactly. There is another subsection in
the existing law, which is carried through in Senator Bryden’s bill,
that clarifies what “wilfully” means in that section. In the current
law, section 446(3) states:

For the purpose of proceedings under paragraph (1)(a)
or (b), evidence that a person failed to exercise reasonable
care of supervision of an animal or a bird thereby causing it
pain, suffering, damage or injury is, in the absence of any
evidence to the contrary, proof that the pain...was caused or
was permitted to be caused wilfully.

In addition, subsection 429(2) says that “wilfully” includes
“recklessly,” and 446(3) says that wilfulness also is downgraded to
negligence on the criminal standard.

Senator Joyal: In other words, the preoccupation expressed by
certain groups, whom we have not heard, is, in your opinion,
covered by section 446?

Ms. Klineberg: 1 will echo Mr. Piragoff and say “yes and no,”
to further confuse matters.

Yes, I think that on a plain reading of the statute it is not
qualified in any way that the animal has to be owned or kept.
I think the plain words clearly imply that the animal can be a wild
or a stray animal.

Nonetheless, exceptionally few cases have been decided on this
point. All T have been able to find in the jurisprudence is cases
that suggest that, as a matter of theory in some other case, this
could apply to wild or stray animals.

There was a fairly well known case where a dog was beaten
over the head with a baseball bat. The accused was charged under
section 445, which is causing injury or death to an animal that is
kept for a lawful purpose. The Crown was unable to prove who
owned the dog, so the accused was acquitted of that charge, but
the court said that the appropriate charge would have been under
section 446(1)(a).

M. Piragoff : L’insouciance représente un degré supérieur a la
simple négligence. On est conscient du risque, mais on continue a
agir malgré cela. L’insouciance ordinaire peut vouloir dire tout
simplement qu’on aurait di savoir qu’il y avait un risque et que,
malgré cela, on n’a pas fait preuve de diligence raisonnable ni
d’attention.

Le sénateur Joyal : C’est la que l'intention est implicite.
Elle est implicite dans l’insouciance mentionnée a
I’article 429. C’est pourquoi il pourrait y avoir une
contradiction entre « volontairement » et « par insouciance ».

Joanne Klineberg, avocate, Section de la politique en matiére de
droit pénal, ministére de la Justice Canada : C’est bien cela. Les
dispositions actuelles renferment un paragraphe, qui est repris
dans le projet de loi du sénateur Bryden, qui explique ce que
signifie « volontairement » dans le contexte de cet article. Le
paragraphe 446(3) actuellement en vigueur dit ceci :

Aux fins des poursuites engagées en vertu de
I’alinéa (1)a) ou b), la preuve qu’'une personne a omis
d’accorder a un animal ou & un oiseau des soins ou une
surveillance raisonnables, lui causant ainsi de la douleur,
des souffrances, des dommages ou des blessures, fait
preuve, en I’absence de toute preuve contraire, que cette
douleur... ont été volontairement causés ou permis ou qu’ils
ont été causés par négligence volontaire.

En outre, le paragraphe 429(2) indique que « volontaire »
inclut « par insouciance » alors que le paragraphe 446(3) indique
que la volonté est ramenée a de la négligence d’aprés la norme
pénale.

Le sénateur Joyal : En d’autres termes, les préoccupations
exprimées par certains groupes, qui n’ont pas communiqué avec
nous, sont, a votre avis, couvertes par l’article 446. Est-ce bien
cela?

Mme Klineberg : A I'instar de M. Piragoff, je dirais « oui et
non », ce qui accentue la confusion.

Oui, je pense qu’une interprétation franche de cette disposition
est qu’il n’est aucunement précisé que 1’animal doit avoir un
propriétaire ou étre sous la garde de quelqu’un. Je pense que les
termes tels qu’ils sont sous-entendent que ’animal peut étre un
animal sauvage ou un animal errant.

Cependant, ce n’est que dans quelques cas exceptionnels qu’un
jugement a été rendu en s’appuyant sur cet argument. Tout ce que
j’ai pu trouver dans la jurisprudence, ce sont des cas qui indiquent
qu’en théorie, cette disposition pourrait étre applicable a des
animaux sauvages ou errants.

Une affaire assez connue concernait un chien qui avait été
frappé a la téte avec un baton de baseball. Des accusations
avaient été portées contre I'auteur de cet acte aux termes de
larticle 445, relatif au fait d’estropier ou de tuer un animal qui est
gardé a une fin légitime. La Couronne avait été incapable de
prouver qui était le propriétaire du chien et, par conséquent,
Paccusé avait été acquitté de ce chef d’accusation, mais la cour
avait signalé qu’il elit été approprié de porter des accusations aux
termes de I'alinéa 446(1)a).
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While the reading of the section is clear, we cannot say that we
have crystal clear and abundant jurisprudence that clarifies that
point.

Senator Zimmer: Thank you for your remarks.

I am not a lawyer. I would like further clarification on this. If
you do not commit the offence but are a witness to it, whether or
not it is your animal, can you be charged under this section of the
law?

Mr. Piragoff: The law concerning the obligation of bystanders
is quite complex relating to whether you become an aider or
abettor. Simply being a bystander to a crime does not render the
person an aider or abettor, unless the circumstances are such that
simply being a bystander might have helped to prevent the person
from escaping; therefore you were intending to aid and assist by
your presence.

The famous case in which this was all dealt with was a sexual
assault that a number of people watched. The question was
whether the fact that these people were standing around had
prevented the victim from escaping and whether that was their
intent rather than simply happening to be bystanders. Purely
being a bystander does not make a person a criminal under the
Criminal Code.

Senator Joyal: I want to continue with the question of the scale
of penalty included in Bill S-213. Senator Bryden proposed that
we give effect to the original proposal of Bill C-50 on those.

Could you give us the rationale for the scale proposed in this
bill, which was the one in Bill C-50, so that we understand the
context in which the level of fine and imprisonment was
established?

Ms. Klineberg: As you are probably aware, this goes back
eight years to the time when these numbers were originally
examined. At that time, we did a comprehensive comparative
analysis of other animal cruelty statutes in other jurisdictions. We
did a comparative analysis of similar types of offences in the
Criminal Code, and we applied the results of that to the common
sentencing scheme in the Criminal Code. There are a very small
number of straight summary conviction offences with a maximum
penalty of six months. The next maximum penalty is two years;
then it goes to five years, 10 years, 14 years and life.

We wanted to create something consistent with where other
jurisdictions were going in this area — which is certainly in an
upward direction — and also consistent with the sentencing
scheme that applies in the code in general.

We found that internationally in the 1990s many other
jurisdictions were increasing their penalties for animal cruelty.
Five years was a fairly common number. In the United States,
criminal law is a state matter, so we had about 50 models to look

Alors que la lecture de cette disposition est claire, on ne peut
pas dire qu’il existe de nombreux précédents limpides qui
clarifient ce point.

Le sénateur Zimmer : Merci pour vos observations.

Je ne suis pas avocat. J’aimerais avoir d’autres éclaircissements
a ce sujet. Si vous ne commettez pas I'infraction mais que vous en
&tes témoin, qu’il s’agisse ou non de votre animal, est-il possible
que I’on porte des accusations contre vous aux termes de cette
disposition de la loi?

M. Piragoff : Les dispositions législatives relatives aux
obligations des témoins sont trés complexes lorsqu’il s’agit de
déterminer si vous pouvez étre considéré comme un complice par
exhortations et conseils. Le simple fait d’étre témoin d’un crime ne
fait pas de la personne concernée un complice ou un fauteur, a
moins que les circonstances soient telles que le seul fait d’étre un
témoin de la scéne aurait pu aider a empécher I’auteur de cet acte
de s’échapper, ce qui démontrerait qu’elle avait I'intention d’aider
et d’assister par sa présence.

L’affaire notoire dans laquelle cette question a été examinée a
fond concernait une agression sexuelle dont plusieurs personnes
avaient été témoins. Il s’agissait de déterminer si la présence de ces
personnes autour de la victime 1’avait empéchée de se sauver, si
cela avait été fait intentionnellement et si, par conséquent, elles
n’étaient pas la par pur hasard. Le seul fait d’étre un témoin ne
fait pas de la personne une criminelle au sens du Code criminel.

Le sénateur Joyal : Je voudrais continuer d’examiner la
question du degré de sévérité de la peine inclus dans le projet de
loi S-213. Le sénateur Bryden a proposé de donner effet a la
proposition initiale prévue dans le projet de loi C-50 a ce chapitre.

Pourriez-vous expliquer les motifs du niveau de peine proposé
dans ce projet de loi, qui était le méme que celui prévu dans le
projet de loi C-50, pour nous permettre de comprendre le contexte
dans lequel le niveau de I’'amende et de la peine d’emprisonnement
a été établi?

Mme Klineberg : Comme vous le savez probablement, il y a
huit ans que ces chiffres ont été initialement examinés. A I’époque,
nous avions fait une analyse comparative exhaustive de dispositions
législatives concernant la cruauté envers les animaux d’autres pays.
Nous avions fait une analyse comparative de types d’infractions
semblables prévues dans le Code criminel et nous en avions
appliqué les résultats au régime courant de détermination de la
peine du Code criminel. I existe trés peu d’infractions punissables
sur déclaration de culpabilité par procédure sommaire comme telles
assorties d’une peine d’emprisonnement maximale de six mois. La
peine maximale suivante est de deux ans, puis de cing ans, dix ans,
quatorze ans et a vie.

Nous voulions suivre la tendance qui se dessinait dans d’autres
pays dans ce domaine — a savoir une tendance a ’augmentation
des peines — tout en respectant le régime de détermination de la
peine applicable dans ’ensemble du Code.

Nous avons constaté que, dans les années 1990, de nombreux
autres pays augmentaient leurs peines pour cruauté envers les
animaux. Cing ans était un chiffre assez courant. Aux Etats-Unis,
le droit pénal reléve des Etats et, par conséquent, nous avions une
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at there. The maximum sentence was 10 years, in Louisiana. For
the most part, they did not go above five years. Some were a little
less, but five years was fairly common.

Looking at comparable offences in the Criminal Code, five
seemed like the right number. In the five-year range there is public
mischief, indignities to a dead body, failing to stop at the scene of
an accident, dangerous operation of a vehicle where there is no
injury caused, threatening to cause death or bodily harm, simple
assault, which is assault that falls short of causing bodily harm.
Causing bodily harm has a ten-year maximum, but for simple
assault the penalty is five years.

There are relatively few Criminal Code offences with a
five-year maximum. Many are well above that, at ten years.
Criminal interest rate, which is currently the subject of a bill in the
House of Commons, is at five years as well. There is arson by
negligence. There is a scattering of different types of offences.
Given that we wanted at that time to differentiate between
offences that were caused wilfully or recklessly from those caused
by criminal neglect and give a higher sentencing to the intentional
ones, we thought five years and two years seemed like the best
possible fit, with two years for the criminal negligence offences,
which is still up from six months.

Senator Joyal: As I understand your explanation, the proposed
level of penalty was not linked to the fact that you were creating a
new category for animals in the Criminal Code or new offences
for the killing of an animal, which was one of the key proposals of
the original Bill C-50.

Ms. Klineberg: I do not think it was in any way related to those
other choices.

Senator Joyal: In others words, we can sever from Bill C-50 the
penalty section and have it on an autonomous basis.

Ms. Klineberg: Absolutely, yes.

Senator Joyal: We are right in approaching the penalties the
way we are, and that is not contradicted by the fact that those
penalties were linked to another approach to animal cruelty stated
in Bill C-50 with the new definition and new categories.

Ms. Klineberg: You are correct.

Senator Joyal: That is an important point that we need to
establish if we are to move forward with the bill: it stands on its
own in the context of the code as it is now.

Senator Bryden was asked about clause 2 of Bill S-213, which
is the enactment provision or the coming into force of the bill. We
heard Senator Bryden mention that that clause was in the original

cinquantaine de modé¢les dont nous pouvions nous inspirer. La
peine maximale était de dix ans, en Louisiane. Dans la plupart des
Etats, la peine maximale ne dépassait pas cinq ans. Dans quelques
cas, c’était un peu moins, mais cinq ans était assez courant.

Aprés avoir examiné des infractions comparables prévues au
Code criminel, il nous a semblé que cinq ans était une peine d’une
durée appropriée. Parmi les peines de cinq ans, il y a celles
imposées pour méfait public, pour indignité envers un cadavre, le
défaut d’arréter sur les lieux d’un accident, la conduite dangereuse
d’un véhicule, sans causer de blessures, les menaces de mort ou de
blessures corporelles, les voies de fait simples, c’est-a-dire les voies
de fait qui ne causent pas de blessures corporelles. Les voies de
fait causant des blessures corporelles sont passibles d’un
emprisonnement maximum de dix ans, mais pour les voies de
fait simples, la peine est de cinq ans.

Dans le Code criminel, un nombre relativement peu élevé
d’infractions sont passibles d’un emprisonnement maximal de
cinq ans. Dans la plupart des cas, la peine est plus longue, soit de
dix ans. En ce qui concerne les taux d’intérét criminels, question
qui fait actuellement ’objet d’un projet de loi & la Chambre des
communes, la peine est de cinq ans également. Il y a aussi
I'incendie criminel par négligence. Il y a divers types d’infractions.
Etant donné que nous voulions alors faire une distinction entre les
infractions qui étaient causées volontairement ou par insouciance
et celles qui étaient causées par négligence criminelle et prévoir
une peine plus lourde pour les infractions intentionnelles, nous
avons estimé que cing ans et deux ans étaient apparemment les
meilleures options possible, avec deux ans pour les infractions
commises par négligence criminelle, pour lesquelles la peine était
antérieurement de six mois.

Le sénateur Joyal : Si je comprends bien vos explications, le
niveau proposé de peine n’était pas lié¢ au fait que vous établissiez
une nouvelle catégorie d’animaux dans le Code criminel ou de
nouvelles infractions pour le fait de tuer un animal, ce qui était
une des principales propositions du projet de loi C-50 initial.

Mme Klineberg : Je ne pense pas que c’était lié de quelque
fagon que ce soit a ces autres choix.

Le sénateur Joyal : En d’autres termes, nous pouvons prélever
sur le projet de loi C-50 la disposition législative concernant les
peines et I'utiliser de fagon autonome.

Mme Klineberg : Tout a fait.

Le sénateur Joyal : Nous avons donc raison d’aborder les
peines sous cet angle et ce n’est pas contredit par le fait que ces
peines étaient liées a une autre approche a I’égard de la cruauté
envers les animaux, adoptée dans le projet de loi C-50, avec la
nouvelle définition et les nouvelles catégories.

Mme Klineberg : C’est bien cela.

Le sénateur Joyal : Il est important de le préciser si nous
voulons aller de I’'avant avec ce projet de loi : il est autonome dans
le contexte du Code actuel.

On a posé des questions au sénateur Bryden au sujet de
larticle 2 du projet de loi S-213, a savoir la disposition
d’entrée en vigueur du projet de loi. Le sénateur Bryden a
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Bill C-50, but as I stated and as you yourself stated, Bill C-50 had
a group of other clauses that were changed substantially. The
clause dealing with coming into force could have had as a basis
the major changes, which we do not have in this bill. Would you
agree that we do not need to have that provision in this bill?

Mr. Piragoff: The extent of the changes in this bill is not the
same as that in previous bills. Accordingly, if all that has been
changed is simply a penalty, the justice system may not need as
much advance notice to deal with the change.

Senator Joyal: That is my reading of it, but I wanted to get it
from you, because you are the person responsible for the
application of the changes to the Criminal Code.

Let me ask it in another fashion. Has it happened in the past
that mere changes of penalty were submitted to a coming into
force provision because they substantially changed something
that could not be coped with in the normal way of issuing a
circular from Justice Canada to the prosecution and so on, which
is the procedure that you normally follow?

Mr. Piragoff: I cannot recall what other bills may or may not
have done. The general practice for government bills is to bring
them into force on a date fixed by proclamation so that the
government has some control as to when it wants to bring it in, or
sometimes there is a staggered approach because the provinces
responsible for the administration of justice may need some time.
On small bills that are not making complex changes, sometimes
they come in on royal proclamation.

Senator Joyal: You would think on this one that there would
not be major objection if it comes into force on royal
proclamation.

Mr. Piragoff: I do not see any legal obstacle to it.

Ms. Klineberg: The way the coming into force provisions
are drafted is to some degree a matter of drafting convention,
which I think may have changed over time. In recent years, we
have tended towards providing the greatest amount of flexibility
to the government on government bills, just as a matter of the
default position, which resulted in drafting of this nature, even
going to the length of saying, “on a day or days fixed by the
Governor-in-Council,” but I do not see that there would be any
difficulties in the justice system’s accommodating these changes
on a quicker basis.

expliqué que cet article se trouvait dans la version initiale du
projet de loi C-50 mais, comme je I’ai mentionné et comme vous
I’avez mentionné vous-méme, le projet de loi C-50 contenait une
série d’autres articles qui ont été modifiés considérablement.
L’article concernant I’entrée en vigueur était peut-étre justifié par
les changements considérables, qui ne se trouvent pas dans le
présent projet de loi. Pensez-vous aussi qu’il n’est pas nécessaire
d’inclure cette disposition dans ce projet de loi?

M. Piragoff : Les changements prévus dans ce projet de loi ne
sont pas aussi considérables que ceux prévus dans les projets de
loi antérieurs. En conséquence, si tout ce qui a été modifié n’est
qu'une peine, le systéme judiciaire n’a peut-étre pas tellement
besoin dun préavis pour apporter ce changement.

Le sénateur Joyal : C’est ainsi que je linterpréte, mais je
voulais que vous le confirmiez, car vous étes la personne
responsable de ’application des modifications au Code criminel.

Je voudrais formuler la question autrement. Est-il déja arrivé
que de simples changements de peine aient été liés a une
disposition d’entrée en vigueur parce qu’ils modifiaient
considérablement une situation qui n’aurait pas pu étre réglée
de la fagon habituelle, a savoir en faisant notamment parvenir une
circulaire de Justice Canada aux procureurs, ce qui est la
procédure que vous suivez normalement?

M. Piragoff : Je ne me souviens pas des changements qu’aient
pu impliquer ou ne pas impliquer d’autres projets de loi. La
pratique courante en ce qui concerne les projets de loi
gouvernementaux consiste a les faire entrer en vigueur a une
date fixée par proclamation, pour que le gouvernement ait un
certain contréle sur la date a laquelle il veut les faire entrer en
vigueur ou, dans certains cas, on procéde par étape parce que les
provinces responsables de 1’administration de la justice ont
peut-étre besoin d’un certain temps. En ce qui concerne les
petits projets de loi qui n’entrainent pas de modifications
complexes, certains d’entre eux entrent en vigueur a la date de
la proclamation royale.

Le sénateur Joyal : On a tendance a penser qu’en ce qui
concerne le présent projet de loi, il n’y aurait aucune objection
majeure a ce qu’il entre en vigueur a la date de la sanction royale.

M. Piragoff : Je pense qu’il n’y aurait aucun obstacle juridique.

Mme Klineberg : Dans le contexte de la rédaction des
dispositions d’entrée en vigueur, il s’agit dans une certaine
mesure d’une convention, qui a peut-étre évolué avec le temps.
Au cours des derniéres années, on a eu tendance a donner la plus
grande marge de manceuvre possible au gouvernement dans les
projets de loi d’initiative gouvernementale, pour avoir tout
simplement des dispositions applicables par défaut, ce qui a
donné le style de rédaction de cette nature, allant méme jusqu’a
écrire « a la date ou aux dates fixées par décret », mais je ne pense
pas qu’il existe dans le systéme judiciaire des obstacles a ce que
I’on permette de faire entrer ces changements en vigueur dans de
plus brefs délais.
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Senator Joyal: The other way to delay the coming into force
would be to indicate a time limit; for example, it could be, “no
later than such and such a day,” and then we know exactly when
it has come into force. I do not think we need to put that in if you
say there is no need to change that.

Mr. Piragoff: There are three ways to do it. You can say
nothing, and the default is it comes into force on royal
proclamation. You can say this law shall come into force
X days after royal proclamation, or you can say that this
law comes into force on a day fixed or days to be fixed by
proclamation of the Governor-in-Council.

Senator Joyal: I would think that this bill should come into
force on its enactment or on Royal Assent, because I do not see
any reason for delaying implementation of the bill.

Senator Bryden: Senator Joyal, I used to sell insurance. Once
you’ve got it sold, stop.

Senator Joyal: I think it is fair to —
Senator Stratton: I think he has a point.

The Chairman: Senator Bryden, I used to be a trial lawyer, and
we used to say that you have to know when not to ask one more
question of the witness. It did happen to me on a couple of
occasions.

Senator Andreychuk: I have no questions. I rarely ask
Mr. Piragoff questions. Generally, he has the answers, so I do
not do it. We have been through this bill many times in a different
form, and we do not need to prolong it.

The Chairman: Honourable senators, that brings us to the
conclusion of today’s hearing. On behalf of the committee,
Mr. Piragoff and Ms. Klineberg, thank you for coming. You
have elucidated for us some of the old code and how it applies to
this new bill, and we thank you for your assistance.

The committee adjourned.

Le sénateur Joyal : L’autre possibilité de retarder I’entrée en
vigueur serait de préciser la date, en écrivant par exemple « au
plus tard le », en précisant le jour; dans ce cas, nous connaitrions
la date exacte de I’entrée en vigueur. Je ne pense pas que ce soit
nécessaire de le préciser si vous dites qu’il n’est pas nécessaire
d’apporter un changement a ce niveau.

M. Piragoff : Il y a trois fagons de procéder. Vous pouvez ne
rien préciser et le projet de loi entre en vigueur par défaut le jour
de la sanction royale. Vous pouvez préciser que cette loi entrera
en vigueur un nombre déterminé de jours aprés la sanction royale,
ou vous pouvez indiquer que la loi en question entrera en vigueur
a la date ou aux dates fixées par proclamation du gouverneur en
conseil.

Le sénateur Joyal : Je pense que ce projet de loi devrait entrer
en vigueur a sa promulgation ou a la sanction royale, car je ne
vois aucune raison d’en retarder la mise en application.

Le sénateur Bryden : Sénateur Joyal, je vendais des assurances.
Dans ce domaine, lorsque c’est vendu, il faut arréter.

Le sénateur Joyal : Je pense qu’il est juste de...
Le sénateur Stratton : Je pense que c’est un argument pertinent.

Le président : Sénateur Bryden, j’étais avocat plaidant et nous
disions qu’il fallait savoir quand arréter de poser des questions au
témoin. Ca m’est arrivé a deux ou trois occasions.

Le sénateur Andreychuk : Je n’ai plus de questions a poser. Je
pose rarement des questions a M. Piragoff. D une fagon générale,
il donne les réponses et, par conséquent, je m’abstiens de poser les
questions. Nous avons examiné ce projet de loi de nombreuses
fois sous diverses formes et il n’est pas nécessaire de prolonger la
discussion.

Le président : Honorables sénateurs, nous arrivons a la fin des
audiences d’aujourd’hui. Au nom du comité, je remercie
M. Piragoff et Mme Klineberg d’avoir accepté notre invitation.
Vous avez clarifi¢ certaines dispositions du Code et expliqué leur
lien avec ce nouveau projet de loi; nous vous remercions pour
votre aide.

La séance est levée.
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